# Carsharing and Public Parking Policies: Assessing Benefits, Costs, and Best Practices in North America







MTI Report 09-09







#### MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

The Norman Y. Mineta International Institute for Surface Transportation Policy Studies (MTI) was established by Congress as part of the Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991. Reauthorized in 1998, MTI was selected by the U.S. Department of Transportation through a competitive process in 2002 as a national "Center of Excellence." The Institute is funded by Congress through the United States Department of Transportation's Research and Innovative Technology Administration, the California Legislature through the Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and by private grants and donations.

The Institute receives oversight from an internationally respected Board of Trustees whose members represent all major surface transportation modes. MTI's focus on policy and management resulted from a Board assessment of the industry's unmet needs and led directly to the choice of the San José State University College of Business as the Institute's home. The Board provides policy direction, assists with needs assessment, and connects the Institute and its programs with the international transportation community.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

#### Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: transportation security; planning and policy development; interrelationships among transportation, land use, and the environment; transportation finance; and collaborative labormanagement relations. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available both in hardcopy and on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

#### **Education**

The educational goal of the Institute is to provide graduate-level education to students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation programs. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and a graduate Certificate in Transportation Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. The master's degree is the highest conferred by the California State University system. With the active assistance of the California Department

of Transportation, MTI delivers its classes over a state-of-the-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

#### Information and Technology Transfer

MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. In addition to publishing the studies, the Institute also sponsors symposia to disseminate research results to transportation professionals and encourages Research Associates to present their findings at conferences. The World in Motion, MTI's quarterly newsletter, covers innovation in the Institute's research and education programs. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

#### **DISCLAIMER**

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program and the California Department of Transportation, in the interest of information exchange. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. government, State of California, or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

#### MTI Report 09-09

# CARSHARING AND PUBLIC PARKING POLICIES: ASSESSING BENEFITS, COSTS, AND BEST PRACTICES IN NORTH AMERICA

March 2010

Susan A. Shaheen, PhD Caroline Rodier, PhD Gail Murray Adam Cohen Elliot Martin, PhD

a publication of the

Mineta Transportation Institute
College of Business
San José State University
San José, CA 95192-0219
Created by Congress in 1991

#### **TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

1.	I. Report No. CA-MTI-10-2612  2. Government Accession No.		rnment Accession No.	3.	Recipients	Catalog No.
4.	<b>Title and Subtitle</b> Carsharing and Public Parking Policies: Assessing Benefits, Costs, and Best Practices in North America		5.	Report Date March 2010		
				6.	Performing Code	Organization
7.	Principal Investigator: Susan A. Shaheen, Ph.D., Co-Director, Transportation Sustainability Research Center (TSRC), University of California, Berkeley (current MTI Research Associate)  Team Member: Caroline J. Rodier, Ph.D., Senior Researcher, TSRC, University of California, Berkeley (current MTI Research Associate)  Team Member: Gail Murray, Consultant (current MTI Research Associate)  Adam Cohen, Research Associate, TSRC, University of California			8.	Performing Report No. MTI Report	<b>Organization</b> 09-09
9.	Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business				Work Unit N	
	San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219				DT RT 07-G	
12.			Department of Transportation of Research-MS42	13.	Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report	
	Sacramento, CA 94273-0001	Admi P.O. I 400 7	arch & Special Programs nistration Box 942873 'th Street, SW nington, D.C. 20590-0001	14.	Sponsoring	g Agency Code
15.	Supplementary Notes					
	At present, local jurisdictions across North America are evaluating how best to provide parking spaces to carsharing vehicles in a fair and equitable manner. Some have initiated implementation of carsharing parking policies, and many continue to evolve as the demand and need for carsharing grows. Many others are seeking guidance on carsharing parking, based on the fledgling experience of other cities. This study documents the state of the practice with respect to carsharing and parking policies in North America. The study begins by providing background on the evidence of carsharing benefits and an overview of carsharing and parking policy internationally. This is followed, in Section Three, by a more detailed description of carsharing parking policies in North America that highlights key policy attributes, including parking allocation, caps, fees and permits, signage, enforcement, public involvement processes, and impact studies. In Section Four, in-depth case studies are presented for more advanced carsharing parking policies in the United States, including Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Portland, Oregon; Washington, D.C.; and the San Francisco Bay Area and the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District. In Section Five, the results of a survey exploring the public's opinion about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing in the San Francisco Bay Area is presented. Finally, in Section Six, key results are summarized to provide policy guidance to local governmental agencies considering the implementation of carsharing parking policies.					
17.	Key Words Carsharing; Parking	18.	<b>Distribution Statement</b> No restrictions. This document The National Technical Informa			
19.	Security Classif. (of this repo Unclassified	ort) 20.	Security Classifi. (of this page) Unclassified	21.	No. of Pages 56	<b>22. Price</b> \$15.00

## Copyright © 2010 by the Mineta Transportation Institute

All rights reserved

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 2009931014

To order this publication, please contact the following:
Mineta Transportation Institute
210 North 4th Street, 4th Floor
San Jose, CA 95112
Tel (408) 924-7560
Fax (408) 924-7565

Email: <a href="mti@mti.sjsu.edu">mti@mti.sjsu.edu</a>
<a href="http://transweb.sjsu.edu">http://transweb.sjsu.edu</a>

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

The Mineta Transportation Institute and the Transportation Sustainability Research Center (TSRC) of the Institute of Transportation Studies at the University of California, Berkeley generously funded this research. The authors would like to thank the experts from local governments and public transit agencies that provided data and supplementary information including Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services, AutoShare, the Bay Area Rapid Transit District, Bellingham Public Works, Boulder CarShare, David Brook, City of Berkeley Public Works Department, City of Cambridge, City CarShare, City of Seattle, Communauto, CooperativeAutoNetwork (CAN), District of Columbia Department of Transportation (DDOT), Parking Authority of Baltimore, PhillyCarShare, Philadelphia Parking Authority, Portland Department of Transportation, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency, TriMet, Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority, and Zipcar. Thanks also go to Melissa Chung, Brenda Dix, and Denise Allen of TSRC and the Innovative Mobility Research group at the University of California, Berkeley for their help in data collection and synthesis. We would also like to thank Joseph Michael Pogodzinski of San Jose State University for his editorial assistance. The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors and do not necessarily indicate acceptance by the sponsors.

The authors also wish to thank MTI staff, including Research Director Dr. Karen Philbrick, Communications Director Donna Maurillo, Research Support Manager Meg Fitts, Student Publications Assistant Sahil Rahimi, Webmaster Ruchi Arya, Research Support Assistant Chris O'Dell, and Graphic Artists J.P. Flores and Vince Alindogan.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	7
BACKGROUND	9
CARSHARING PARKING POLICIES IN NORTH AMERICA	13
METHODS	13
OVERVIEW	13
MOTIVATIONS AND CHALLENGES	17
PARKING ALLOCATION	18
CAPS	21
FEES AND PERMITS	22
SIGNAGE	25
ENFORCEMENT	26
PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT	26
IMPACT STUDIES	26
CASE STUDIES	29
PHILADELPHIA	29
Parking Policy	29
PORTLAND	30
Parking Policy	31
WASHINGTON D.C. METROPOLITAN AREA	34
Arlington County: Bi-Annual Carsharing Parking Review	37
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA	38
San Francisco	39
BART District	40
PUBLIC PERCEPTIONS OF PARKING FOR CARSHARING	43
DEMOGRAPHIC ATTRIBUTES	43
CARSHARING EXPOSURE	44

CONCLUSION	49
APPENDIX A: CARSHARING OPERATOR SURVEY	55
APPENDIX B: EXPERT INTERVIEW SCRIPT	59
APPENDIX C: PUBLIC OPINION SURVEY	63
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	67
BIBLIOGRAPHY	69
ABOUT THE AUTHORS	73

#### **LIST OF TABLES**

Carsharing Parking Policy Approaches for Local Governments	3
2. Overview Carsharing Parking Around the World	11
<ol> <li>Brief Description of Local Jurisdiction Carsharing Parking Policies in North America</li> </ol>	14
<ol> <li>Brief Description of Public Transit Agency Carsharing Parking Policies in North America</li> </ol>	16
<ol><li>Dedicated Carsharing On-Street and Public Transit Parking Relative to Total Available Parking</li></ol>	22
6. Private-Sector Survey of Off-Street Parking Costs	23
7. Parking Requirements within the San Francisco Planning Code Section 166	40
8. Demographic Attributes of Respondents	44
<ol> <li>Perception of Parking Supply by Location and by Purpose at Intercept Location</li> </ol>	45
<ol> <li>Respondent Relationship with Neighborhood and Support for Carsharing Parking</li> </ol>	46
11. Neighborhood Relationship and Carsharing Parking Support and Opposition `	47
12. Carsharing Parking Policy Approaches for Local Governments	51

#### **LIST OF FIGURES**

1.	On-Street Parking Provisions in Philadelphia	31
2.	On-Street Parking Provisions for Carsharing in Portland	34
3.	On-Street Parking Provisions for Carsharing in Washington, D.C.	37

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

North American carsharing (short-term vehicle access) growth was on a near-exponential trajectory from the late 1990s to 2004. A large body of empirical evidence now documents carsharing's effectiveness in reducing auto ownership, vehicle miles traveled (VMT), and vehicle emissions; increasing public transit use; and allowing more efficient use of roadways and parking facilities. Despite the significant benefits of carsharing, from 2005 to 2008, membership and vehicle growth rates among carsharing organizations have slowed from their exponential climb, but continue at a healthy moderated pace in both the United States and Canada. One of the major barriers to the wider use and growth of carsharing services is the development of a dense network of parking access locations for carsharing vehicles by users, such as on-street, public off-street, and public transit station parking. Moreover, the free or affordable provision of these spaces in key locations to carsharing operators can keep the cost of carsharing services down and thus increase the demand for these services. Of course, affordability of carsharing spaces is a term relative to the costs of the region, but at a minimum, spaces should be considered affordable in the context of the cost of acquisition and maintenance of the space in addition to the capital and operational cost of the carsharing vehicle occupying the space.

At present, local jurisdictions across North America are evaluating how best to provide parking spaces to carsharing vehicles in a fair and equitable manner. Some have initiated implementation of carsharing parking policies, and many continue to evolve as the demand and need for carsharing grows. Many others are seeking guidance on carsharing parking, based on the fledgling experience of other cities.

This study documents the state of the practice with respect to carsharing and parking policies in North America. The study begins by providing background on the evidence of carsharing benefits and an overview of carsharing and parking policy internationally. This is followed, in Section Three, by a more detailed description of carsharing parking policies in North America that highlights key policy attributes, including parking allocation, caps, fees and permits, signage, enforcement, public involvement processes, and impact studies. In Section Four, in-depth case studies are presented for more advanced carsharing parking policies in the U.S., including Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Portland, Oregon; Washington, D.C.; and San Francisco Bay Area and the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District. In Section Five, the results of a survey exploring the public's opinion about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing in the San Francisco Bay Area is presented. Finally, in Section Six, key results are summarized to provide policy guidance to local governmental agencies considering the implementation of carsharing parking policies.

Local governments in North America have addressed the issue of carsharing parking in a number of ways. With respect to on-street parking, some cities have established "option zones" that designate on-street carsharing parking. Other cities have allocated parking stalls to carsharing as a "vehicle-class" rather than dedicating parking spots to specific carsharing operators. In other cities, some operators are charged for on-street parking at the rate of foregone meter revenue or permit fees. With respect to public off-street parking, a number of cities provide market rate, discounted, and free parking in municipal parking lots and garages for carsharing.

Based on the four case studies and expert interviews, the authors have identified three policy tracks that local governments and public transit operators might use as a model for developing their carsharing parking policies. These policy approaches include a sample policy framework for parking allocation, caps, fees/permits, signage/installation, impact studies, enforcement and public involvement based on varying degrees of governmental support. The first framework, "carsharing as an environmental benefit," is an example of maximum governmental support. Under this framework, the government considers carsharing to play a definable role in mitigating a variety of public costs associated with personal automotive use. In this sense, many public agencies view carsharing as contributing to the public good and therefore justify the allocation of public resources. The second framework, "carsharing as a sustainable business," provides moderate support to carsharing. Under the second framework, carsharing is still seen as a service that produces environmental benefits, but it is also a revenue-earning enterprise. Hence, a public agency provides more limited support and infrastructure for the carsharing service, and the carsharing organization is expected to carry a larger share of the operational costs moving forward. The final policy framework, "carsharing as a business," provides a minimum level of governmental support. Under this framework, carsharing is little more than another commercial operator within the urban environment. It bares the full cost of pursuing special parking allocations under the same regime offered to any other business in any other industry. The details of these three frameworks are described in table 1.

Public involvement is an important aspect of allocating carsharing parking and should be incorporated into the process for allocating parking stalls. Public involvement in this process can reduce opposition to the conversion of pre-existing parking stalls and provide both jurisdictions and operators with valuable information on the highest-demand/highest potential use locations. The particular method of public involvement should reflect the unique institutions and policy procedures established in each jurisdiction. Some examples of public involvement could include endorsement by neighborhood councils (as in Washington, D.C.); a public comment, hearing, and approval process for the allocation of parking stalls; or an appointed/elected body to comment or approve parking requests. Some jurisdictions have provided city councils and parking authorities with varying degrees of authority over carsharing parking that can include public involvement through regular meetings and public comment periods.

**Table 1 Carsharing Parking Policy Approaches for Local Governments** 

	Carsharing as an Environmental Benefit Maximum Governmental Support	Carsharing as a Sustainable Business Moderate Governmental Support	Carsharing as a Business Minimum Governmental Support
Allocation	Jurisdiction may allocate parking spaces on a case-by-case basis or through more informal processes, such as non-binding council/board of director resolutions.	Jurisdiction that once allocated parking spaces through an informal process, formalizes this process.	Jurisdiction maintains a highly formalized and established process for the allocation of carsharing parking spaces, including a process for allocation among multiple operators.
Caps (for example, limit on number of carsharing spaces)	Does not impose any cap on the number of carsharing spaces or percentage of spac- es that may be converted to carsharing.	May impose a cap on the number and location of carsharing spaces or the total percentage of spaces jurisdiction-wide that may be converted to carsharing.	Imposes a cap on the number and location of carsharing spaces or the total percentage of spaces jurisdiction-wide, which may be converted to carsharing.
Fees and Permits	Recognizing the social and environmental benefits of carsharing, parking is provided free-of-charge or significantly below market cost.	Fees may be based on cost recovery of parking provision (for example, foregone meter revenue, administrative costs, and so on). Fees may be reduced to reflect environmental goals, such as charging a reduced carpool rate for carsharing parking.	Fees based on a cost re- covery or profit-based meth- odology. This could include permit costs, lost meter revenue, and administrative expenses for program man- agement.
Signage, Markings, and Installation	Jurisdiction pays for the sign installation and maintenance, striping, and markings.  Jurisdiction pays for the installation and operator pays for the maintenance of signage, striping, and markings.		Requires carsharing op- erator to pay for the instal- lation and maintenance of signage, striping, and mark- ings.
Social and Environmental Impact Studies	Require that carsharing operators study and document local social and environmental benefits at regular intervals.	May require carsharing operators to study and document local social and environmental benefits on a one-time basis or at regular intervals.	Does not require any social and environmental impact study of carsharing.
Parking Enforcement	Local police may maintain ticket authority. Citations for parking in carsharing stalls are greater than most other parking violations.	Local police may maintain ticket/citation authority.	Local police may have ticketing authority. Citations for parking in carsharing spots are the same as most other parking violations.
Public Involvement	Informal process, if any, led by the jurisdiction to elicit pub- lic input into the location and number of carsharing parking spots allocated. Staff may de- termine this internally, without public comment.	Informal process where the jurisdiction and carsharing organization seek public input into the location and number of carsharing parking spots through public notification and staff management of possible public concerns.	Highly formalized process where carsharing organization is responsible for obtaining public input and approval on the location and number of carsharing parking spots through neighborhood councils, commissions, or formal hearings.

Indeed, the results of a survey exploring San Francisco Bay Area residents' opinions about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing underscore the importance of public involvement in the development of carsharing parking policies. More respondents indicated a willingness to convert spaces for carsharing than to oppose such a conversion. The types of parking that had both the greatest support and least opposition to conversion to carsharing parking were taxi zones, no parking/no stopping zones, and restriping existing parking spaces; however, a large share of respondents did support conversion of metered parking. About half of respondents thought that carsharing organizations should compensate the city for these on-street spaces. Among those that thought that carsharing organizations should compensate the city for these spaces, most indicated that the organization should pay a reduced cost (52 percent), the cost of the parking permit (19 percent), or the cost of lost meter revenue. Many felt that there should be a different policy for granting on-street parking spaces to for-profit carsharing providers versus non-profit carsharing providers (61 percent).

In the future, operator competition is expected to increase in many local jurisdictions. As such, local governments and public transit operators should develop forward-looking policies that provide an equitable means of allocating parking stalls (both in terms of total number and location). To address the total number of stalls, local jurisdictions can either limit the number of spaces allocated per an operator, provide a limited number of spaces per a given membership level (for instance, one parking stall per 100 members served), or choose not to limit the number of carsharing spaces. If a jurisdiction chooses to allocate spaces based on membership, it should be cautious because larger organizations may have a strategic advantage, and there is no definition of active verses casual membership in carsharing (for instance, how frequently a member uses the service). Allocating based on membership will give larger organizations an additional strategic advantage at a time when they already have one. Hence, such action could inevitably lower competition in the industry and raise consumer costs. In addition, there is an informal distinction in the industry between active membership and passive (or casual) membership in carsharing. Active members use carsharing regularly, whereas passive members rarely use the service, and they may be members in a nominal sense through a no-cost or low cost plan. These issues should be considered when weighing the importance of the size of a carsharing organization. Some of the methods that can be used to address competition over the location of parking stalls between operators include a first-come/first-served policy, lottery, collaborative process negotiated with the parking authority and all service providers, and tandem stalls (more than one operator with an equal number of adjacent stalls).

There are a number of methods that can be used for assessing the value of on-street parking spaces provided to carsharing operators. On-street parking fees can be based on the cost of residential parking permits, foregone meter revenue, operations and maintenance, or market cost for private or public off-street parking in a given parking district or municipal jurisdiction. Additionally, jurisdictions may choose to charge fees for converting parking stalls including the conversion costs associated with removing meters, striping curbs, and administrative overhead.

Parking policies should include enforcement mechanisms to prevent non-carsharing vehicles from parking in carsharing-only stalls. Jurisdictions should ensure that they have

the proper statutory authority at a minimum to ticket violators.

With respect to distinguishing between carsharing and car rental services, local governments should cautiously weigh the nature of the services being provided and their impacts on the transportation network. Carsharing frequently differs from car rental in distinct ways. Car rental is generally used for day-long or multi-day trips and is rarely used for servicing daily transportation needs. As such, car rental is not widely considered a substitute of car ownership. Conversely, carsharing is frequently a membership-based service where members frequently use carsharing for more frequent, short-term local transportation needs. One way to assess the effectiveness of services provided is to require operators to conduct usage/impact surveys and provide regular feedback to local governments. Similarly, public transit operators can require similar operator surveys to ensure that carsharing users are taking public transit.

#### INTRODUCTION

A large body of empirical evidence now documents carsharing's (short-term auto access) effectiveness in reducing auto ownership, vehicle miles traveled (VMT), and vehicle emissions; increasing public transit use; and allowing more efficient use of roadways and parking facilities. Despite the significant benefits of carsharing, from 2005 to 2008, membership and vehicle growth rates among carsharing organizations have moderated in both the U.S. and Canada (Shaheen, Cohen, and Chung 2009; Shaheen, Cohen, and Roberts 2006). One of the major barriers to the wider use and growth of carsharing services is the development of a dense network of parking access locations for carsharing vehicles by users, such as on-street, public off-street, and public transit station parking (Millard-Ball, Murray, and Schure 2006). Moreover, free or affordable provision of these spaces in key locations to carsharing operators can keep the cost of carsharing services down and thus increase demand for these services. A carsharing expert, David Brook, notes:

Finding and leasing parking spaces in urban areas turns out to be a more difficult and time-consuming job than most carsharing organizations anticipate. Providing designated, reserved on-street parking spaces can be one of the important ways a local government can support the growth of carsharing. Typically, such spaces are established under the same regulation that enables a city to designate parking for other classes of vehicles, such as taxicabs, movie or hotel zones. (2005, pg. 8)

Parking is an important issue because parking locations define the vehicle network of the carsharing organization. In addition, parking is an asset that cities can offer to carsharing organizations to help lower costs and facilitate growth in lieu of monetary support, which may not be a legal or financial option for public agencies. At present, local jurisdictions across North America are evaluating how best to provide parking spaces to carsharing vehicles in a fair and equitable manner. Some have initiated implementation of carsharing parking policies, and many continue to evolve as the demand and need for carsharing grows. Many others are seeking guidance on carsharing parking, based on the fledgling experience of other cities.

This study documents the state of the practice with respect to carsharing and parking policies in North America. The study begins by providing background on the evidence of carsharing benefits and an overview of carsharing and parking policy internationally. This is followed, in Section Three, by a more detailed description of carsharing parking policies in North America that highlights key policy attributes, including parking allocation, caps, fees and permits, signage, enforcement, public involvement processes, and impact studies. In Section Four, in-depth case studies are presented for more advanced carsharing parking policies in the U.S., including Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Portland, Oregon; Washington, D.C.; and the San Francisco Bay Area and the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District. In Section Five, the results of a survey exploring the public's opinion about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing in the San Francisco Bay Area is presented. Finally, in Section Six, key results are summarized to provide policy guidance to local governmental agencies considering the implementation of carsharing parking policies.

#### **BACKGROUND**

Auto ownership is widespread in North America. In 2001, 92.1 percent of U.S. and 78.2 percent of Canadian households owned at least one vehicle (U.S. Department of Transportation 2003; Canadian Statistics 2005). Over 60 percent of U.S. and 35 percent of Canadian households owned two or more vehicles (U.S. Department of Transportation 2003; Canadian Statistics 2005). Not surprisingly, transportation represents the second and third largest consumer expenditures in the U.S. (19.1 percent) and Canada (13.6 percent), respectively (U.S. Department of Labor 2005; Canadian Statistics 2004). With auto ownership and fuel costs rising, individuals are seeking alternatives to private vehicle ownership. Short-term auto use or carsharing programs—through hourly rates and subscription-access plans—provide such an alternative, especially for individuals living in major urban areas, households with one or more vehicles, and those with access to other transportation modes, such as public transit and carpooling.

The principle of carsharing is simple: individuals gain the benefits of private vehicle use without the costs and responsibilities of ownership (Shaheen, Cohen, and Roberts, 2006). Instead of owning one or more vehicles, a household or business accesses a fleet of shared-use autos on an as-needed basis. Individuals gain access to vehicles by joining an organization that maintains a fleet of cars and light trucks in a network of locations. Generally, participants pay a fee each time they use a vehicle (Shaheen, Schwartz, and Wipyewski 2004; Shaheen, Cohen, and Roberts 2006). Carsharing became popularized in Europe in the mid- to late-1980s. Approximately 600,000 individuals belong to carsharing organizations worldwide. Since 1994, a total of 49 carsharing programs have been deployed in North America—33 are operational, and 16 are defunct. As of July 1, 2008, there were 14 active programs in Canada and 19 in the U.S., with an estimated 319,000 carsharing members sharing approximately 7,500 vehicles in North America. The four largest providers in the U.S. and Canada support 99 percent and 95.2 percent of total membership, respectively (Shaheen, Cohen, and Chung 2009).

An increasing body of empirical evidence supports that carsharing is an effective tool to reduce auto ownership, VMT, and vehicle emissions; increase public transit use; and allow for more efficient use of roadways and parking facilities. A major impact of carsharing on the transportation system is a reduction in vehicle ownership. Canadian studies and member surveys suggest that between 15 to 29 percent of carsharing participants sold a vehicle after joining a carsharing program, while 25 to 61 percent delayed or had forgone a vehicle purchase (Price and Hamilton 2005; Price et al. 2006; Katzev 1999; Cooper et al. 2000; Lane 2005; Zipcar 2006). U.S. studies and surveys indicate that between 23 to 32 percent of carsharing participants sold a personal vehicle, and between 29 to 68 percent postponed or entirely avoided a car purchase (Walb and Louden 1986; Price and Hamilton 2005; Price et al. 2006; Katzev 1999; Cooper 2000; Cervero et al. 2002; Cervero and Tsai, 2004; Cervero et al. 2007; Lane 2005; Zipcar 2006). Furthermore, U.S. and Canadian data reveal that each carsharing vehicle removes between five to 20 cars from the roads (Cervero et al., 2002; Cervero and Tsai, 2004; Cervero et al. 2007; Lane 2005; Zipcar 2006). According to recent European studies, a carsharing vehicle reduces the need for four to ten privately owned vehicles (Ryden and Morin 2005). Location-specific variations are likely to result in differences in this impact measure. A reduction in vehicle ownership, in turn, is likely to

result in fewer VMT, reduced traffic congestion and parking demand, and an increase in the use of public transportation and other transport modes (such as biking and walking) in lieu of car travel (Lane 2005, Millard-Ball et al. 2005; AutoShare 2008). VMT reduction data range from as little as 7.6 percent to as much as 80 percent of a member's total VMT in Canada and the U.S. Estimates differ substantially between members that gave up vehicles after joining a carsharing program and those that gained vehicle access through carsharing (Cooper et al. 2000; Lane 2005; Zipcar 2006; City CarShare 2004). Shaheen et al. (2009) calculates an average reduction of 44 percent in VMT per carsharing user across North American studies. European studies also indicate a large reduction in VMT, between 28 to 45 percent (Shaheen, and Cohen 2007). Carsharing also induces lower VMT by emphasizing variable driving costs, such as per hour or mileage charges.

Furthermore, reduced vehicle ownership and VMT lowers greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, as trips are shifted to public transit, biking, and walking. Transportation is a major contributor of carbon dioxide (CO2) and other GHG emissions, accounting for approximately 27 percent of total anthropogenic emissions in the U.S. and 14 percent globally. In Europe, carsharing is estimated to reduce the average user's CO2 emissions by 40 to 50 percent (Ryden and Morin 2005). In 2007, Communauto announced a 13,000-ton reduction in CO2 emissions as a result of their 11,000 carsharing users in the province of Quebec, Canada. Communauto calculates that each carsharing user reduces his or her distance traveled by car by 2,900 kilometers per year on average. Furthermore, they anticipate with a potential market of 139,000 households in Quebec that annual CO2 emission reductions could be as high as 168,000 tons per year (Communauto 2007). Carsharing members also report a higher degree of environmental awareness after joining a carsharing program (Lane 2004).

Finally, carsharing also shows evidence of beneficial social impacts. Households can gain or maintain vehicle access without bearing the full costs of car ownership (Shaheen, Meyn, and Wipyewski 2003; Litman 2000). Depending on location and organization, the maximum annual mileage up to which carsharing is more cost effective than owning or leasing a personal vehicle lies between 10,000 to 16,093 kilometers (Litman 2000; Calgary Alternative Transportation Cooperative 2005). Low-income households and college students can also benefit from participating in carsharing (Shaheen, Schwartz, and Wipyewski 2004).

Despite the significant benefits of carsharing, from 2005 to 2008, membership and vehicle growth rates among carsharing organizations have moderated in both the U.S. and Canada (Shaheen, Cohen, and Chung 2009; Shaheen, Cohen, and Roberts 2006). One of the major barriers to the wider use and growth of carsharing services is the development of a dense network of parking access locations for carsharing vehicles by users, such as on-street, public off-street, and public transit station parking (Millard-Ball, Murray, and Schure 2006). Moreover, free or affordable provision of these spaces in key locations to carsharing operators will keep the cost of carsharing services down and thus increase the demand for these services.

To gauge the state of carsharing and parking internationally, Shaheen and Cohen (2007) conducted a survey of 33 international carsharing experts from 21 countries where carsharing was operational and/or planned from May to June 2006. Experts represented

both academics and carsharing operators who provided information on carsharing in Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the U.S. The survey did not represent carsharing in Denmark, Finland, and Norway due to expert non-response. A review of the literature provided supplemental information. They found that on-street carsharing parking existed in ten nations around the world (see Table 2 below). The majority of North American carsharing and parking policies were in locations where carsharing was well established, and the more detailed policies were found in areas with sizable carsharing memberships. Of the 15 nations with carsharing operations, 66 percent (ten of 15) indicated that on-street parking was available to carsharing organizations. Additionally, experts stated that carsharing operators in 40 percent of those nations (six of 15) were provided with dedicated carsharing parking zones. In Australia, Europe, and North America, the majority of experts indicated that operators had access to free and/or reduced cost parking and that parking was frequently provided as a form of non-monetary support. Experts from 60 percent of these nations (nine of 15) noted that supportive parking policies are integral to the success of carsharing in their countries (Shaheen and Cohen 2007). In Table 2 below, "Yes" means: "Yes, it is provided."

**Table 2 Overview Carsharing Parking Around the World** 

	On-Street Parking Available to CSO	Cost to	Dedicated Park- ing Zones pro- vided to CSO	Parking given as a form Non-monetary Support
Asia				
Japan	No			No
Singapore	No			No
Australia				
Australia	Yes	Free	Yes	Yes
Europe				
Austria	Yes		Yes	No
Belgium	Yes		Yes	Yes
France	No			No
Germany	Yes	Free and Reduced		Yes
Italy	Yes	Free	Yes	Yes
Netherlands	Yes	Free and Reduced		Yes
Spain	No			
Sweden	Yes	Free and Reduced		Yes
Switzerland	No			Yes
United Kingdom	Yes	Free and Reduced	Yes	Yes
North America				
Canada	Yes	Free		Yes
United States	Yes	Free and Reduced	Yes	Yes

Source: Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1992, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, D.C., 2007, pp. 81-89.

#### CARSHARING PARKING POLICIES IN NORTH AMERICA

In this section, carsharing parking policies in North America for both local jurisdictions and public transit agencies are documented. Local jurisdictions typically have authority over on-street parking and public off-street parking. Public transit agencies typically have jurisdiction over parking in their transit station lots (including transit stations, kiss-and-ride, park-and-ride, and so on). First, the authors discuss the methods by which information was gathered for this section. Second, an overview of carsharing and parking policies in the U.S. is presented. Third, motivations and challenges of implementing carsharing parking policies are summarized. Fourth, policies implemented by cities and public transit authorities are described and enumerated by level of policy development and key policy attributes, including parking allocation, caps, fees and permits, signage, enforcement, public involvement processes, and impact studies.

#### **METHODS**

Research on North American carsharing parking began with a literature and Internet review. This initial research was supplemented with a survey administered to 27 North American carsharing operators from January to May 2008, including 15 (of the 18 operators) in the U.S. and all of the 13 operators in Canada (See Carsharing Operator Survey instrument in Appendix A). Zipcar—with service in both the U.S. and Canada—completed survey responses for each region. In addition, 34 interviews were conducted with public officials in governmental agencies involved in developing and administering carsharing and parking policies in the U.S. (See Expert Interview Script in Appendix B.) Expert interviews were conducted in all local jurisdictions with the exception of Brookline (MA) and Chicago (IL) in the U.S. and Montreal (QC), Toronto (ON), and Vancouver (BC) in Canada.

#### **OVERVIEW**

Eighteen local jurisdictions in North America have existing or pending carsharing parking policies, three of which are in Canada and 15 in the U.S. Eight transit agencies (seven in the U.S. and one in Canada) also have carsharing parking policies. An overview of municipal carsharing parking policies is provided in Table 3, and an overview of public transit authorities' parking policies is provided in Table 4. In some areas, these policies are formalized through written regulations, local ordinances, or user agreements or contracts that grant special use of parking by carsharing organizations. In other areas, the policies are more informal and typically determined administratively by agency staff and/or on a case-by-case approval basis. Table 3 shows the jurisdiction and the policy. Although regions differ in the types of the organizations present, there is little in the way of correlation with the types of the policies implemented and the types of carsharing organizations present within the jurisdiction.

Table 3 Brief Description of Local Jurisdiction Carsharing Parking Policies in North America

Local Jurisdiction	Description of Carsharing Parking Policy			
Arlington, VA (U.S.)	The county partnered with Flexcar and Zipcar to provide on-street and off-street parking to reduce start-up costs and to encourage carsharing membership and growth as part of a pilot program that was discontinued in 2005; however, both on-street/off-street parking spaces remained (ACCS 2005; Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008).			
Austin, TX (U.S.)	The City Council passed a resolution providing four on-street spaces and exempting carsharing vehicles from parking meter charges in the downtown and University of Texas areas (Austin City Council 2006).			
Baltimore, MD (U.S.)  In 2008, the Parking Authority of Baltimore City (PABC) aimed to create Bal a separate non-profit carsharing organization, as a parking demand manaplanned to provide free on-street or off-street parking spaces in PABC-co. The City Council passed an ordinance in 2007 to allow towing of any non-confrom designated carsharing spaces (Parking Authority of Baltimore 2008), has since decided to release a request for proposal to third-party operator.				
Bellingham, WA (U.S.)	The local parking office has an ordinance and established procedures allotting parking spaces for carsharing (Bellingham Public Works 2008).			
Boulder, CO (U.S.)	Parking meter revenue is used to subsidize carsharing operations (Boulder CarShare 2008).			
Brookline, MA (U.S.)	The city has a license agreement with Zipcar allocating six on-street spaces (exempt from two-hour time limit) at \$750/space/year (Millard-Ball 2005).			
Cambridge, MA (U.S.)	Section 16.3E of Cambridge's Traffic Rules and Regulations Guidelines allows off- and on-street parking to be allocated and reserved for carsharing. The city provides a few onstreet parking spaces for an annual fee. However, it prefers that carsharing operators lease private off-street spaces rather than use public on-street spaces due to high demand for on-street spaces. Additionally, street cleaning, construction, and snow emergencies are additional challenges to on-street parking. The city is exploring allowing carsharing parking to count for some required off-street accessory parking in residential and commercial developments and a range of policy and zoning options. It expects to propose a strategy in 2009 (City of Cambridge 2009).			
Chicago, IL (U.S.)	Six spaces were provided to I-GO in 2004 free-of-charge, and 45 additional parking spaces are to be allocated near public transit stations to I-Go and Zipcar by September 2009 for \$88,000 for a two-year lease agreement (CTA, 2008). On-street parking is provided to I-GO on a case-by-case basis through the city Aldermans. I-GO has only a few on-street spaces, which present logistical management challenges in coordinating with snow-removal and street cleaning schedules. The Aldermans must ultimately get permission from the City of Chicago to allocate on-street spaces to carsharing. Historically, only non-profit organizations, such as I-GO, have received an allocation of on-street parking within the city.			
Montreal, QC (CAN)	Communauto can purchase parking permits; this is an exclusive privilege not granted to other businesses (Communauto 2008).			
Philadelphia, PA (U.S.)	Parking spaces are requested through the Philadelphia Parking Authority, and spaces have been granted to carsharing based on the premise that shared-vehicle use helps to maximize overall parking availability (PhillyCarShare 2008; City of Philadelphia 2006).			
Portland, OR (U.S.)	The city designates "Option Zones" for on-street carsharing parking via orange poles on parking meters (Portland Department of Transportation 2006). Option zones constitute Portland's way of indicating locations with good public transit service and allow the city to adjust the activity permitted there.			

San Francisco, CA (U.S.)	City CarShare pays the discounted carpool rate for municipal off-street parking (approximately 50 percent of the full monthly rate); currently, they have only two on-street parking spaces on Polk Street across from San Francisco City Hall, which are provided free-of-charge and were approved on a one-time basis by the Board of Supervisors. At present, the city is not actively considering carsharing parking policy development but plans to reevaluate both off-street and on-street carsharing policies in the future. Carsharing parking policy development will resume when the city implements its parking pricing pilot using advanced meters to manage price and availability in the city's parking districts (City of San Francisco 2005; SFMTA 2008; City CarShare 2008).
Seattle, WA (U.S.)	The city maintains an established process for granting carsharing parking. Rather than dedicating the spaces to a carsharing operator, Seattle's parking stalls are designated to carsharing vehicles as a class, similar to taxi zones. Seattle Bill 116300, passed on September 11, 2008, defines carsharing, carsharing vehicle and carsharing zone. It also grants authority to the Traffic Engineer to establish carsharing parking stalls/zones and enable parking fines for illegally parking in carsharing parking spots (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008). (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008).
Toronto, ON (CAN)	The city donated on-street parking permits to AutoShare, so carsharing members can park near their homes. AutoShare has also been given a 30 percent discount on monthly parking permits by the Toronto City Council (AutoShare 2008).
Vancouver, BC (CAN)	Cooperative Auto Network (CAN) has purchased universal parking permits, which are allowed in all 19 of the city's parking zones (CAN 2008).
Washington, D.C. (U.S.)	In 2005, D.C. allowed on-street parking spaces to be dedicated to Flexcar and Zipcar vehicles. Following the 2007 carsharing merger of Flexcar and Zipcar, all spaces were converted to Zipcar. New parking is requested by Advisory Neighborhood Councils and approved by the D.C. Department of Transportation (DDOT) (DDOT 2007).
Berkeley, CA (U.S.) (proposed)	At present, there is no official policy. In 2004, six spaces where designated to City CarShare vehicles in municipal lots when Berkeley entered into a fleet reduction contract with City CarShare. Berkeley is developing a policy for allocating on-street carsharing parking and would like to bring a formal policy proposal to the City Council in early 2009 (City of Berkeley Public Works Department, 2008).
Los Angeles, CA	The City Council has approved a one-year pilot with Zipcar near the University of California, Los Angeles and University of Southern California campuses. The Los Angeles Department
(U.S.) (proposed)	of Transportation has granted Zipcar ten on-street parking spaces in each of the two pilot locations beginning in Summer 2009. The spaces were originally non-metered spaces to avoid any loss of revenue to the City of Los Angeles (City of Los Angeles 2008).

### Table 4 Brief Description of Public Transit Agency Carsharing Parking Policies in North America

Public Transit Agency	Description of Carsharing Parking Policy
Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District – San Fran- cisco, CA (U.S.)	In July 2002, the BART District allocated up to 24 parking spaces for City CarShare vehicles at various BART stations after submitting data that illustrated positive impacts on ridership among other factors. In February 2006, BART's Board approved parking for Flexcar and Zipcar and allocated eight parking spaces to each operator. Since the merger of Flexcar and Zipcar, Zipcar acquired all 16 parking spaces. Carsharing parking was converted from monthly permitted spaces, and operators pay a monthly fee (from \$63 to \$115 per space). Operators are responsible for signage and maintenance. BART's policy allows a maximum of three parking spaces per operator at each station (BART 2008).
Chicago Transit Authority (CTA) – Chicago IL (U.S.)	In 2004, CTA approved a pilot to allow I-GO to park vehicles in designated parking stalls at five CTA stations (CTA 2004). In July 2008, the CTA Board approved a two-year lease agreement allowing a total of 45 I-GO and Zipcar vehicles at 20 CTA park-and-ride lots and stations. CTA will earn approximately \$88,000 over this two-year period under the recently approved lease agreement (CTA Press Release 2008). In October 2008, CTA and I-GO approved the launch of a joint "smart card," enabling vehicle access and public transit ridership with a common card (Wisniewski 2008).
Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA) – Atlanta, GA (U.S.)	Flexcar began parking carsharing vehicles at MARTA stations in October 2006. The program began with one vehicle parked at two in-town MARTA station parking lots (MARTA 2006). As of September 2008, Zipcar had seven vehicles parked at five MARTA stations (Zipcar 2009). MARTA maintains a lease agreement with Zipcar and does not charge for these spaces.
Metropolitan Transportation Authority / Metro-North – New York, NY (U.S.)	A new agreement between the Metro-North Railroad and Enterprise allows Enterprise customers to reserve a vehicle online and purchase a five percent discounted rail ticket. Enterprise provides a vehicle ready at the station or an employee to provide transportation to a nearby Enterprise office. Under this five-year contract, Enterprise will provide rental car services at 23 Metro-North stations, compensating the public transit authority \$40,000 annually plus ten percent of the program's annual revenue (Anders and Brucker 2007).
New Jersey Transit (U.S.)	New Jersey Transit partnered with Zipcar on April 16, 2008, to provide parking spaces at five public transit stations (New Jersey Transit 2008).
TransLink – Vancouver BC (Canada)	TransLink offers CAN parking stalls at select stations of SkyTrain (New Economy Development Group 2006) and assigns parking stalls on an as-needed basis free-of-charge. CAN has four parking stalls at TransLink stations (CAN 2008).
TriMet – Portland OR (U.S.)	TriMet requires carsharing parking requests to be submitted by carsharing operators to TriMet's General Manager for approval. TriMet allows a maximum of ten carsharing parking spaces at each park and ride lot. TriMet charges for signage and daily park-and-ride fees (TriMet, 2008).
Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) – Washington D.C. (U.S.)	Under its current contract, 104 carsharing vehicles are parked at 38 of Metro's 44 short-term, metered Kiss & Ride lots. Meter heads have been removed, and carsharing signs have been erected at the spots. An additional 33 stations are served by carsharing vehicles parked nearby, providing carsharing service to 73 of Metro's 86 stations. Metro has capped the number of spaces available at each Kiss & Ride lot; the maximum varies by lot. Metro does not currently charge for the spaces (WMATA 2008).

#### **MOTIVATIONS AND CHALLENGES**

The results of the interviews conducted with public officials revealed some common themes about the motivations for and challenges of developing and implementing carsharing parking policies. Carsharing and the provision of public parking for it were generally viewed as a public service. Many indicated that carsharing was an important mechanism for cities to reduce auto ownership, VMT, congestion, and parking demand as well as to improve air quality and the environment. Some also noted that carsharing helped promote higher density development and smart growth practices. Public transit agencies typically viewed carsharing as a way to increase access to public transit and ridership.

On the other hand, many expressed concern about reallocating limited parking resources for use by private carsharing organizations. Several mentioned that every space designated for carsharing is one less space that can be used by the general public. Public transit agency officials were also concerned that carsharing users might park at transit stations but not actually use it. In fact, a few local governments (Bellingham, Cambridge, and Washington, D.C.) did face some public opposition among residents who were concerned that the allocation of on-street parking spaces would reduce parking in their neighborhood (Bellingham Public Works 2008; City of Cambridge 2008; DDOT 2007; WMATA 2008). However, many local governments did not face public opposition.

Legal and institutional barriers were also noted as a challenge to the development and implementation of carsharing parking policies. Three cities noted that developing new institutional processes for on-street carsharing parking was very difficult and confusing (for instance, applications, processes, and enforcement). Additionally, many indicated that cost was a significant barrier. Questions were also raised about whether there should be different provisions for for-profit and non-profit carsharing operators. The fair allocation of parking among multiple carsharing operators competing for spaces was also noted as a concern.

A number of concerns specific to local jurisdictions also arose. Arlington County was unsure about whether the county or the state had jurisdiction for passing codes and ordinances for carsharing parking (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). The City of Berkeley was concerned about responsibility for enforcement of carsharing parking (City of Berkeley Public Works Department 2008). Zoning in Cambridge prohibits operating a business in a residential neighborhood, and carsharing vehicles are a commercial enterprise (City of Cambridge 2008). Philadelphia's ordinance only allows on-street parking to be dedicated to a non-profit carsharing provider. However, since its approval Zipcar—a for-profit provider—has begun service and would like an amendment to allow them access to carsharing parking (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). The City of Seattle does have ordinances that allow carsharing parking; however, a city attorney indicated that the city was prohibited from renting a public space to a private organization and is currently working on a resolution to this issue (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008).

Some cities have already responded to prior legal and institutional challenges by amending their policies. Seattle and Portland are amending their policies to enhance the wording of

their carsharing signage to include "violators will be ticketed" and providing enforcement, such as towing of non-carsharing vehicles parked in carsharing-only spaces (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008; Portland Department of Transportation [DOT] 2006, 2008). Philadelphia, Bellingham, and Baltimore have already adopted municipal ordinances allowing any private vehicles to be towed from a designated carsharing vehicle's parking space (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008; Bellingham Public Works 2008; Parking Authority of Baltimore 2008). Fines range from \$20 US in Bellingham to between \$41 and \$160 US in Philadelphia (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008; Bellingham Public Works 200). Although Arlington has designated carsharing parking signage, enforcement remains an unresolved issue because Arlington does not have formal ordinances or regulations defining an enforcement policy (ACCS 2005; Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). Ultimately, the flexibility afforded to municipalities in allocating carsharing policies may often rest with the definitions within state law. Often the ceding of public rights-of-way can only be justified in cases where a public good is being served. In a strict legal sense, a public good cannot be proven if the service itself (for instance, carsharing) does not have a legal definition under state law. Thus, although carsharing has grown into the mainstream conscious over the last decade, it still lacks a formal definition in many areas. This makes formal policies more difficult to put into place.

#### **Carsharing Parking Policies in North America: Key Elements**

Among both formal and informal carsharing parking policies in the U.S., seven key policy elements are identified. These include:

- 1. Allocation of parking to operators;
- 2. Caps or limits on the total number of parking spaces for carsharing and/or for carsharing operators;
- 3. Fees assessed (typically monthly or annually) to operators for use of the parking spaces or to purchase a parking permit;
- 4. Signage and markings that identify the parking space as designated to carsharing and responsibility to their installation and maintenance;
- 5. Enforcement mechanisms including, for example, ticketing, booting, and towing;
- 6. Public involvement processes; and
- 7. Documentation of the social and environmental impacts of carsharing by the operator.

In the subsections that follow, the range of agencies' policies is described for each policy element.

#### PARKING ALLOCATION

Carsharing parking is typically allocated either through a formal procedure or through less formalized processes (for instance, variances, special permits, and case-by-case city council approvals). Six cities (Austin, Brookline, Cambridge, Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver) currently allocate on-street carsharing parking through less formal processes and are exploring policy and zoning options to develop a more formal procedure (Austin City Council 2006; Millard-Ball 2005; City of Cambridge 2008; Communauto 2008; AutoShare

2008; CAN 2008). Seven local governments (Arlington County, Baltimore, Bellingham, Philadelphia, Portland, Seattle, and Washington, D.C.) have established formal polices for allocating on-street carsharing parking through various local ordinances and zoning provisions. Most of these policies allocate carsharing parking in metered spaces or create separate parking zones for carsharing vehicles. Some local government carsharing and parking policies—both formal and informal—require some type of written contract or lease agreement with the carsharing operator. The agreements can specify terms of use, fees, and limit liability for the public space by a private enterprise.

Three Canadian cities (Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver) with informal policies allocate on-street carsharing parking through the use of special or general-use parking permits. They use existing permitted spaces and have created special provisions for providing permits to carsharing vehicles (Communauto 2008; AutoShare 2008; CAN 2008). The major advantage of carsharing parking in permit zones, compared to metered spaces, is that additional legal provisions are not needed and enforcement mechanisms are typically already in place.

Some agencies with less formal carsharing and parking policies initiate carsharing parking through pilot programs. For example, Arlington County allocated 43 on-street parking spaces dedicated to carsharing as part of a pilot/risk-sharing agreement with Flexcar and Zipcar in 2005 (ACCS 2006; Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). In Austin, the city council approved a resolution authorizing the City Manager to allocate four permanent parking spaces (two in the downtown and two near the University of Texas) for a 12-month pilot program (Austin City Council 2006).

The more formal allocation process in Philadelphia is unique in that it distinguishes between for-profit and non-profit carsharing providers. On-street parking is only granted to nonprofit carsharing providers, who may apply for the exclusive-use of parking stalls on a "firstcome, first-served, basis" in one of six designated block faces managed by the Philadelphia Parking Authority. The Philadelphia City Council may designate additional reserved carsharing parking spaces after considering four factors: 1) the accessibility of reasonably close curbside parking by residents, 2) desire of residents in close proximity of a proposed parking space to have access to carsharing, 3) accessibility of an area to public transit and alternative transportation modes, and 4) desirability of a proposed location by a carsharing operator. The Parking Authority also has the authority to temporarily designate reserved carsharing parking spaces for a provisional period of six months given consideration of the four factors described above (PhillyCarShare 2008; Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). Portland's carsharing and parking policy are another example of a formal allocation procedure. Carsharing operators must submit requests biannually to install new or relocate existing on-street parking spaces. After a request is submitted, the city conducts a site evaluation for each location requested and provides written notice to property owners and tenants adjacent to a parking space, 30 days prior to installation (Portland DOT 2006, 2008).

Currently, a carsharing operator submits a request, which is reviewed by the transportation planning staff, to initiate the formal procedure for carsharing parking in Seattle. The transportation staff forwards the request to the Traffic Controls and Parking Management

division for review to approve or deny the request. Approved requests are followed with written notification to adjacent property owners. At present, Seattle is undergoing a process of amending its carsharing parking policies. Seattle Bill 116300, passed on September 11, 2008, defines carsharing, carsharing vehicle and carsharing zone. It also grants authority to the Traffic Engineer to establish carsharing parking stalls/zones and enable parking fines for illegally parking in carsharing parking spots (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008).

Another formal allocation process in Washington, D.C. gives the Director of the Department of Public Works the authority to authorize carsharing parking spaces in consultation with the affected Advisory Neighborhood Council (within a 30-day period). Typically, however, individuals, businesses, and/or carsharing operators submit a request for carsharing parking to their Advisory Neighborhood Council, which then submits the request to the District Department of Transportation (which is housed in the Department of Public Works). DDOT will only consider such requests after their respective Advisory Neighborhood Council has endorsed them.

Prior to the Flexcar/Zipcar merger in October 2007, both operators met jointly with the DDOT, in Washington, D.C., to select on-street parking spaces in a collaborative process. In some cases, the DDOT allocated tandem spots (spots for two carsharing vehicles) in which one spot would be dedicated to each operator. All parking spaces were converted to Zipcar spaces after the merger.

Because of concern of the Advisory Neighborhood Councils about taking residential permitted parking for carsharing parking spaces, the DDOT in Washington, D.C. prioritized the creation and conversion of parking spaces as follows: 1) DDOT first attempts to create parking spaces where spaces had not existed prior (for instance, loading zones, no-parking zones, and so on); 2) then DDOT converts metered spaces; and 3) DDOT considers the removal of residential permitted parking. About half of the carsharing spaces have been created from areas where parking spaces had not existed prior and about half from the removal of metered parking spaces (DDOT 2007, 2008; WMATA 2008).

Another formal mechanism, employed by public transit operators, is the use of the request for proposal (RFP) process to encourage a carsharing operator to locate vehicles at public transit parking lots and to re-negotiate existing parking agreements. The RFP serves as a method for initiating a joint contract, lease, or real estate usage agreement between the transit agency and the carsharing operator. Currently, BART, CTA, MARTA, and WMATA maintain some type of written contract with carsharing operators. WMATA's RFP is unique in that they issue an open RFP, which can grant parking to more than one carsharing operator at their transit facilities.

#### **CAPS**

Three local governments (Arlington, Portland, and Washington, D.C.) and three public transit agencies (BART, CTA, and WMATA) with established carsharing parking policies limit the number or locations of on-street parking spaces used for carsharing. For example, Portland initially had a limit of 100 on-street metered spaces that could be used for carsharing,

and these spaces were allocated evenly between the two carsharing operators in the city (Zipcar and Flexcar). Zipcar retained Flexcar's 50 parking spaces following their merger in October 2007. Portland's initial policy allowed an unlimited number of unmetered on-street spaces to be converted to carsharing. In January 2009, the City of Portland amended its policy and imposed a parking space cap of 200 spaces per carsharing operator (including metered and unmetered) (Portland DOT 2006, 2008). The caps have been installed as a legal mechanism to prevent an over-allocation of spaces to carsharing without further review from public officials.

Public transit agency parking caps have generally been determined by administrative limits imposed by transit agency boards, departments, and the RFP process. The BART District's most recent Executive Decision Document allocates up to eight parking spaces per operator, with a maximum of three spaces per a station. The CTA board approved a two-year lease agreement with a self-imposed cap of 45 carsharing spaces at the transit authority's 20 kiss-and-ride lots and stations. WMATA's most recent RFP allows 104 carsharing parking spaces at 38 of Metro's 44 short-term, metered Kiss & Ride lots.

Other local governments limit the number of carsharing parking spaces by specifying geographic boundaries or establishing special procedures for the approval of additional spaces. For example, although Philadelphia does not have a limit on the number of onstreet parking spaces for carsharing, the total possible number of spaces is limited by the requirement that carsharing parking be allowed only in six block-face locations (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). Other locations can only be approved on a case-by-case basis by Philadelphia's City Council (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). Similarly, Washington, D.C. does not have a cap on the number of carsharing parking spaces; however, additional parking stalls beyond the initial 86 allocated during the pilot program must be requested and approved by a local Advisory Neighborhood Commission (DDOT 2007, 2008; WMATA 2008).

Detailed parking data on the number of carsharing parking spaces and the total number of on-street and public transit parking spaces is available from Arlington, Portland, Washington, D.C., and the BART District. The number of spots dedicated to carsharing in these four locations is a small fraction of the total number of metered and general-use on-street parking spots. In both cases, the number of parking spots converted to carsharing represents less than one percent of both the total number of on-street parking spaces and the total number of metered on-street parking spaces (See Table 5 below) (ACCS 2005; Arlington County Environ. and Transportation Services 2008; Portland DOT 2006, 2008; DDOT 2007, 2008; WMATA 2008; BART 2008).

Table 5 Dedicated Carsharing On-Street and Public Transit Parking Relative to Total Available Parking

Local Government	Metered Parking Spaces	Metered Spaces Converted to Carsharing	Percentage of Metered for Carsharing	On-street Spaces	On-street Carsharing Parking Spaces	Percentage On-Street Parking Dedicated to Carsharing
Arlington County, VA	2,373	20	.08%	53,000	43	0.08%
Portland, OR	14,500	100	0.69%	-	66	-
Washington, D.C.	16,000	41	0.25%	260,000	86	0.033%

Public Transit Agency	Total Number of Off- Street Public Transit Parking Spaces	Number of Off-Street Carsharing Parking Spaces	Percentage to Parking Dedicated to Carsharing
BART District	46,000	40	0.09%
WMATA	63,000	182	0.3%

#### **FEES AND PERMITS**

#### **Fees**

Some local governments and public transit agencies have implemented pricing mechanisms to recover lost parking revenue from the conversion of parking from general-use to carsharing-only spaces. The decision to charge an operator for parking and the method used to develop that charge is often related to a jurisdiction's perception of the benefits and costs of providing carsharing parking. In general, municipalities are not obligated to charge for carsharing parking, if they deem the public benefit of carsharing to be worth at least the forgone revenue. For those cities that do choose to charge, there are a number of methods that can be used to assess the value of on-street parking spaces provided to carsharing operators. These are typically based on one or a combination of the following: 1) cost of residential parking permits; 2) cost of foregone meter revenue; 3) cost of providing the parking (for instance, operations and maintenance); or 4) the market cost for private or public off-street parking in a given parking district or municipal jurisdiction. Additionally, cities may assess operators for the cost of converting a parking space from general use to carsharing use, which can include removing meters, striping curbs, and administrative overhead.

One method that agencies can use to value the cost of carsharing parking is the cost of off-street parking. This can include the market cost of private off-street parking (for

example, fees charged by private parking garages and lots) as well as the cost of public off-street parking (for instance, fees charged by public transit operators and/or municipal governments for public garages and lots). One real estate firm, Colliers International, conducts an annual market study reporting average off-street parking costs in cities around the world. Table 6 below shows the average cost of off-street parking reported by Colliers International for many North American cities where carsharing is currently operational, as well as selected international cities/countries.

**Table 6 Private-Sector Survey of Off-Street Parking Costs** 

North American Cities	Average Monthly Cost (USD)	
Atlanta	\$90	
Baltimore	\$150	
Boston	\$460	
Chicago	\$310	
Columbus	\$110	
Jacksonville	\$110	
Los Angeles	\$196	
Minneapolis/St. Paul	\$183.50	
New York (Downtown)	\$462	
New York (Midtown)	\$528.44	
Oakland	\$192.50	
Philadelphia	\$300	
Portland	\$182	
San Francisco	\$350	
Seattle	\$260	
Washington, D.C.	\$240	
International Cities	Average Monthly Cost (USD)	
	Therage menting cost (CC2)	
Amsterdam	\$423.12	
Amsterdam Auckland		
	\$423.12	
Auckland	\$423.12 \$300.08	
Auckland Frankfurt	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56	
Auckland Frankfurt London	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris Singapore	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80 \$182	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris Singapore Stockholm	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80 \$182 \$508.92	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris Singapore Stockholm Sydney	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80 \$182 \$508.92 \$774.76	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris Singapore Stockholm Sydney Tel Aviv	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80 \$182 \$508.92 \$774.76 \$198.48	
Auckland Frankfurt London Melbourne Montreal Munich Oslo Paris Singapore Stockholm Sydney Tel Aviv Tokyo	\$423.12 \$300.08 \$261.56 \$1,166.87 \$493.03 \$290.01 \$412.34 \$482.35 \$330.80 \$182 \$508.92 \$774.76 \$198.48 \$552	

Source: 2008 Colliers International Annual Parking Rate Survey

Agencies can also value the cost of carsharing parking based on the cost of public off-street parking. This can include the fees charged by public transit operators and/or municipal governments for off-street public garages and lots. For example, in San Francisco, City CarShare pays a discounted rate for municipal off-street parking garages. City CarShare is charged at the same rate as carpool parking (approximately 50 percent of the full monthly rate) (SFMTA 2008).

Another method used by agencies is to value the cost of carsharing parking based on meter revenue lost due to the conversion to carsharing parking. This requires that an agency value the average cost of meter revenue within, for example, a parking district or citywide. The BART District, Portland, and Cambridge use a cost of service and recovery methodology. Although Cambridge did not charge for carsharing parking initially, after the first three years, the city implemented a plan to charge for parking based on the location of the space plus lost meter revenue (City of Cambridge 2008). BART charges a carsharing operator the monthly cost of a parking permit, unique to each BART station (BART 2008). In Portland, parking permit fees for metered spaces are assessed at the average annual cost of foregone meter revenue for a particular meter district plus administrative costs (Portland DOT 2006, 2008). Portland's DOT reviews permit fees through a cost of service study assessing meter revenue and maintenance costs (Portland DOT 2006, 2008; Millard-Ball 2005).

#### Portland's Cost of Service and Recovery Model for Carsharing Parking in Meter Districts:

Permit Cost = Foregone Meter Revenue + Maintenance Costs + Administrative Costs

#### Portland's Cost of Service and Recovery Model for Carsharing Parking for Unmetered Spaces:

Permit Cost = Installation Costs + Maintenance Costs + Administrative Costs

Note: In the first year of Portland's policy, permit fees were reduced to 50 percent of the full cost.

For unmetered spaces converted to carsharing parking, Portland assesses administrative, installation, and maintenance costs (Portland DOT 2006, 2008). Seattle and Bellingham charge fees intended to cover administration time and enforcement; however, Seattle is considering adopting a new fee policy (City of Seattle 2008; City of Seattle Legislative Information Service 2008; Bellington Public Works, 2008).

Portland and Washington, D.C. have studied the monetary value of on-street parking spaces for carsharing (Portland DOT 2006, 2008; DDOT 2007; WMATA 2008). Portland estimated that the combined cost of foregone meter revenue and the installation of signage cost the city \$60,000 in 2005 (Portland DOT 2006, 2008). Portland also estimated an administrative cost of \$264 per stall annually for maintaining the program (Portland DOT 2006, 2008). The DDOT estimated foregone meter revenue and installation (painting the asphalt), totaling \$150,000 (DDOT 2007; WMATA 2008). DDOT also estimated future program costs of \$75,000 annually for foregone meter revenue and \$40,000 for more permanent asphalt striping to discourage illegal parking (DDOT 2007; WMATA 2008).

In an effort to value the actual demand for each parking space, Portland considered a proposal to value individual parking spaces rather than the average cost of all on-street stalls in 2006. The proposal would have taken parking permit and meter revenue from each block-face to reflect block and neighborhood variations in parking demand. Using this formula, annual parking fees would have varied from \$435 to \$3,046, depending upon the space. (Portland DOT 2006, 2008)

Both Portland and Washington, D.C. estimate an average annual meter revenue of \$1,700 to \$1,800 per stall; this equates to \$141 to \$150 per month (Portland DOT 2007; Brook 2006; DDOT 2007). On an annual basis, this is lower than the average cost of off-street parking identified by Collier's International study. Collier's estimated that off-street parking in Portland and Washington, D.C. averaged \$182 per month (\$2,184 annually) and \$240 per month (\$2,880 annually), respectively (Colliers 2008). This suggests that cities valuing on-street stalls to the amount of foregone meter revenue may be undervaluing parking spaces, particularly if average annual meter revenue is less than the market cost of off-street parking spaces.

## **Permits**

A number of cities also provide parking permits for carsharing vehicles. Some of these permits can allow either "exclusive-use" of all parking zones within a city or "exclusive-use" of a particular parking stall. Parking permits for carsharing vehicles have been used in Philadelphia, Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008; Communauto 2008; AutoShare 2008; CAN 2008). At present, the only policy framework used by Canadian cities has been the implementation of various parking permit mechanisms to allocate on-street parking in Canadian cities. In Philadelphia, carsharing operators can apply for exclusive use of a parking stall from the Philadelphia Parking Authority for \$150 annually per stall. In Montreal, Communauto has been able to purchase parking permits; an exclusive privilege not granted to other businesses (Communauto 2008). In Toronto, the city has donated on-street parking permits to AutoShare, so carsharing members can park near their homes. Toronto has given AutoShare a 30 percent discount on monthly parking permits by the Toronto City Council (AutoShare 2008). In Vancouver, the city has established universal parking permits that allow CAN vehicles to be parked in all 19 of the city's parking zones (CAN 2008).

## SIGNAGE

All of the cities that allow on-street carsharing parking, where carsharing is currently operational, also allow special signage to denote carsharing stalls. In Washington, D.C. and Arlington County, carsharing stalls are denoted by orange poles and pavement markings (DDOT 2007; WMATA 2008; Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Service 2008). According to DDOT, signage and pavement markings combined with enforcement aid in preventing illegal parking in stalls reserved exclusively for shared-use vehicles. Some agencies, such as Arlington County, the BART District, and Philadelphia, require that operators install and maintain carsharing signage (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Service 2008; Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008; DDOT 2008). Although DDOT currently maintains the orange poles and pavement markings, it is working

to renegotiate operator contracts to require that carsharing organizations install poles and maintain the pavement markings. Portland, Oregon maintains carsharing "Option Zones" denoted by similar orange poles, which attach to parking meters (Portland DOT 2007, 2008).

## **ENFORCEMENT**

For carsharing operators, preventing non-shared use vehicles from parking in carsharing stalls is important for operators to ensure that when a member returns a vehicle, there is a dedicated and reserved place for that vehicle to be parked. A number of cities have established mechanisms for enforcing carsharing parking. In the District of Columbia, the Director of the Department of Public Works can authorize the Department of Motor Vehicles to issue special license plates to identify carsharing vehicles to aid in parking enforcement. Despite the legislative authority to do so, special plates have not been issued to carsharing vehicles in Washington, D.C. (DDOT 2007, 2008; WMATA 2008). In the District, both the Public Works and the Metropolitan Police Departments maintain ticket-writing authority. Unauthorized vehicles parked in carsharing spaces are subject to a \$100 fine, which is greater than other parking violations. In Philadelphia, parking illegally in a carsharing parking space is fined a \$35 penalty (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). In Portland, parking enforcement requests are only accepted from designated personnel at a carsharing organization (Portland DOT 2007, 2008).

## **PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT**

Four local governments (Arlington County, Philadelphia, Portland, and Washington, D.C.) have incorporated public involvement into the process of allocating carsharing parking (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008; Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008; Portland DOT 2007, 2008; DDOT 2007, 2008; WMATA 2008). Philadelphia has enacted an ordinance that allows carsharing organizations to work with community groups to decide where carsharing parking is placed. In Washington, D.C., carsharing operators must first request a parking space through their Advisory Neighborhood Council before installation will be considered by the DDOT. In Portland, carsharing operators must work with neighborhood and community groups to gain approval on the location of carsharing parking spaces prior to installation.

## IMPACT STUDIES

A few local governments and public transit agencies have required carsharing operators to conduct parking impact studies; however, such studies are rarely released publicly and are usually used for internal purposes only. Local governments and public transit agencies have been reluctant to tie policy decisions to the results of impact studies.

For example, Portland requires a carsharing operator to report vehicle usage rates over a six-month period after a new vehicle is placed. Low usage rates may result in the relocation of a carsharing parking space/permit by the City Traffic Engineer. Some parking spaces have been given up as neither the city or the operator want to maintain spaces with low-usage rates (Brook, 2008).

In Washington, D.C., carsharing operators must provide the DDOT with quarterly data to assess the impacts of the parking program. DDOT receives quarterly data from the operators including membership growth, vehicle numbers, and usage rates for each vehicle (DDOT, 2008). One of the reasons for collecting vehicle utilization data was to ensure vehicles placed in low-income neighborhoods were being used, which is a requirement of DDOT. When competition among multiple operators existed, there was substantial concern about the proprietary nature of the data collected. As such, for the purposes of the evaluation, Washington, D.C. combined Flexcar and Zipcar data (DDOT 2008).

In the San Francisco Bay Area, the BART District initially wanted the carsharing operators to conduct surveys and demonstrate that BART users were indeed using the carsharing vehicles parked in BART spaces and whether there was any increase in ridership resulting from the vehicles. Based on this initial concern, BART encouraged City CarShare to approach the City of Berkeley and other local governments to inquire about on-street parking spaces near BART stations. Although difficult to measure the direct benefits of the carsharing spaces on BART users, the staff eventually concluded that carsharing spaces augmented public transportation use in part from data provided by City CarShare (BART 2008). No public study was generated from this effort.

Motivations and Challenges
----------------------------

28

## **CASE STUDIES**

The cities of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Portland, Oregon; and Washington, D.C. were selected as case study locations because the local governments and parking authorities have adopted detailed carsharing parking policies including: definitions of carsharing; procedures for allocating parking; a methodology for valuing carsharing spaces; and administrative policies on permits, signage, and parking enforcement. Additionally, the BART District in the San Francisco Bay Area provides a fourth case study that exemplifies how a public transit operator might consider allocating carsharing parking. The policies of the four case studies follow below.

## **PHILADELPHIA**

Carsharing was first launched in Philadelphia in 2002, by the non-profit operator, PhillyCarShare. PhillyCarShare started with nine members and two vehicles. In April 2004, the City of Philadelphia partnered with PhillyCarShare on a fleet reduction initiative aimed at replacing municipal fleet motor pool vehicles with carsharing vehicles (PhillyCarShare 2007). In March 2008, a second for-profit operator launched services in Philadelphia with 110 vehicles (Zipcar 2008). During this time, Zipcar successfully won the bid for Philadelphia's municipal contract and began providing fleet service to the city in July 2008 (Zipcar 2008; City of Philadelphia 2006). Within a week of Zipcar's launch in Philadelphia, a third operator, Flexcar, announced the launch of its fleet. Zipcar and Flexcar later merged in October 2007. Philadelphia is also served by U-Carshare, a for-profit service provided by U-haul, which has gradually entered into the carsharing industry. As of September 2008, there were an estimated 56,000 members and 550 vehicles in the Philadelphia market served by all three operators.

## PARKING POLICY

The City of Philadelphia has developed a formal carsharing parking ordinance. In October 2006, Philadelphia Council Members, DiCicco, Blackwell, and Verna, introduced bill number 060761, an ordinance establishing Philadelphia's carsharing parking regulations (City of Philadelphia 2006). Philadelphia's current policy only allows carsharing parking to be allocated to a non-profit operator (PhillyCarShare 2008); thus, Zipcar and U-Carshare do not have any on-street parking spaces. At present, PhillyCarShare has 76 onstreet parking spaces in 61 different locations (PhillyCarShare 2008). PhillyCarShare pays an annual permit fee of \$150 per vehicle (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008). PhillyCarShare points of departure (or pods), where a member has access to one or more vehicles, are denoted by signs measuring 18"x 22" stating: "Reserved for PhillyCarShare." They are posted on U-poles at both ends of each pod (PhillyCarShare 2008). Initially, PhillyCarShare also painted the ground with their logo and "reserved," but the City of Philadelphia has discontinued this practice, and it is now prohibited (PhillyCarShare 2008). In addition, PhillyCarShare has 33 parking spaces in 17 off-street Philadelphia Parking Authority lots (PhillyCarShare 2008). Generally, the parking spaces reserved for carsharing vehicles are free to PhillyCarShare, with the exception of two paid lots. In these paid lots, PhillyCarShare is assessed \$1 a day—the same rate as the general

public (Philadelphia Parking Authority 2008).

Philadelphia's policy permits non-profit carsharing organizations to reserve on-street stalls through a process that includes: 1) consent from adjacent property owner(s), 2) letters of support from civic associations and the district councilperson, and 3) approval from the Streets Department and Philadelphia Parking Authority (PhillyCarShare 2008). Non-profit carsharing operators meeting the city's legislative definition may apply for the exclusive-use of a parking stall from the Parking Authority. Exclusive-use locations are allocated on a "first-come, first-served basis." Philadelphia enumerates six parking locations (or blockfaces) where on-street carsharing parking may be established (City of Philadelphia 2006). The Philadelphia Parking Authority manages requests for carsharing parking in these areas. The City Council and the Parking Authority may establish additional carsharing parking spaces. Non-profit carsharing operators may apply for the exclusive use of a parking stall from the Parking Authority. The Philadelphia ordinance specifies that exclusive-use permits cost \$150 per location per year. Parking illegally in a carsharing parking space is subject to a \$35 fine (City of Philadelphia 2006). Figure 1 below provides a summary of key provisions of Philadelphia's carsharing parking provisions.

## **PORTLAND**

CarSharing Portland first launched its service in Portland in March 1998, and was the first formal carsharing service in the U.S. Carsharing Portland launched with four vehicles as a private for-profit company. After four years of operation, Carsharing Portland had 25 vehicles (Brook 2008). In 2001, CarSharing Portland was acquired by Seattle-based Flexcar, which later merged with Zipcar in October 2007. Zipcar and U-Haul's U-Carshare currently serve Portland. At present, U-Carshare's fleet of PT Cruiser vehicles are only parked at U-haul locations within the city. Zipcar has an estimated 150 on-street parking spaces in Portland, and parking spaces are denoted by striping that states: "carsharing parking only." Zipcar also has an estimated 12 public off-street parking spaces in Portland (Portland DOT 2008). As of September 2008, there were approximately 9,300 members and 225 vehicles in the Portland market, which is served by two operators.

## **Legislative Definitions**

Policy defines a "carsharing organization" as "a non-profit organization that is generally open to the public and that permits members to use vehicles available at public accessible locations on a pay per use basis."

## **General Provisions**

A carsharing parking permit may be revoked by the City of Philadelphia for public health, safety, or access needs. Generally, the Philadelphia Parking Authority must provide a 30-day written notice of termination except in unusual circumstances.

## **Allocation**

Non-profit carsharing operators may apply for the exclusive-use of a parking stall from the Parking Authority. Exclusive-use locations are allocated on a "first-come, first-served basis."

## Cap

No official parking cap has been established for carsharing. The city finds no reason why the "enabling" legislation should set a limit. City of Philadelphia Bill No. 060761, which establishes on-street carsharing parking in Philadelphia, enumerates six parking locations (blockfaces) where on-street carsharing parking may be established. Since the adoption of this ordinance, the City Council has approved a subsequent ordinance that identifies additional locations. The Philadelphia Parking Authority manages requests for carsharing parking in these areas. Additionally, the Philadelphia City Council may designate additional reserved carsharing parking spaces after considering four factors: 1) the accessibility of reasonably close curbside parking by residents, 2) desire of residents in close proximity of a proposed parking space to access carsharing, 3) accessibility of an area to public transit and alternative transportation modes, and 4) desirability of a proposed location by a carsharing operator. The Parking Authority may temporarily designate reserved parking spaces for a provisional period of six months using the preceding four factors. After the six-month provisional period, District Council Members are supposed to introduce legislation making the spaces in their district permanent.

## **Fee Structure**

Carsharing operators may apply for the exclusive-use of a parking space from the Parking Authority. Exclusive-use permits cost \$150 per location per year. This is the same fee the Philadelphia Parking Authority charges for loading zones, which also removes parking from public use.

## Permits, Signage, and Markings

Carsharing operators may apply for exclusive-use permits from the Parking Authority.

#### **Parking Enforcement**

Only a carsharing organization can park a carsharing vehicle in designated parking spots. Parking illegally in a carsharing parking space results in a \$35 fine.

## Figure 1 On-Street Parking Provisions in Philadelphia

## PARKING POLICY

Portland has also developed an extensive carsharing parking policy. In October 2006, Portland's DOT adopted TRN-3.309—a series of administrative rules governing Portland's carsharing parking regulations (City of Portland 2005). These rules allow on-street parking spaces to be dedicated to carsharing. They are reserved for the exclusive use of one carsharing operator. Both for-profit and non-profit carsharing operators are allowed to submit requests biannually to install new or relocate existing on-street parking spaces (City of Portland 2005). This can entail relocating the orange "mobility node" poles used to

designate the carsharing parking spaces (Portland DOT 2008).

Portland's ordinance allows a total of 50 metered, on-street parking spaces per carsharing operator. When approved, the ordinance allowed an unlimited number of unmetered parking spaces on the basis that carsharing reduces air and water pollution, congestion, and VMT/VKT and increases public transit ridership, biking, and walking (Portland DOT 2008). However, the ordinance was amended in January 2009, with a limit of 150 unmetered parking spaces, for a total maximum of 200 on-street spaces per carsharing organization (City of Portland 2005). Portland's parking policy does not distinguish between for-profit and non-profit carsharing providers. Parking permit fees for metered spaces are the equivalent to the average annual cost of foregone parking meter revenue (approximately \$1,500 annually per space) in the meter district, plus administrative and installation costs (valued at \$264 a space) (Portland DOT 2008). Parking permit fees for unmetered spaces vary by location and include administrative, installation, and maintenance costs. As part of Portland's administrative rules, carsharing operators must survey their membership annually on their travel behavior. Surveys are jointly developed with and approved by the DOT. Results must be provided to the DOT at the beginning of each fiscal year (Portland DOT 2006). Carsharing operators must also report on the monthly use of public parking spaces, membership, and fleet size to the DOT (City of Portland 2005).

Portland recently re-evaluated its policy and imposed a parking space cap of 200 spaces per carsharing operator (including metered and unmetered spaces) (City of Portland 2005). Additionally, the City of Portland is considering charging a market rate for metered on-street spaces. Initially, when an operator requested spaces, the city's parking department sought feedback from adjacent property owners. However, under the recent policy revision, the carsharing operator must obtain written approval from adjacent landowners to reduce the burden on city staff. Additionally, if the parking space is located within an Area Parking Permit Program, the carsharing organization must notify and obtain approval from the Neighborhood Association's parking committee. Figure 2 provides the on-street parking provisions for carsharing in Portland.

## **Legislative Definitions**

"Carsharing" is defined as a "shared-use vehicle program that provides a geographically distributed fleet of vehicles to serve its members." A "carsharing organization" is defined as "an organization that provides pre-approved members with access to self-drive vehicles at geographically distributed locations for an hourly rate that includes fuel, maintenance, and insurance." A "carsharing parking permit" is defined as "the permit issued by the City Traffic Engineer to identify carsharing vehicles that are [eligible] to park in designated on-street spaces."

## **General Provisions**

The carsharing operator must meet the definition provided in the legislation. Parking spaces are reserved for the exclusive use of one carsharing operator. The City Traffic Engineer may provide a 30-day written notice to relocate carsharing parking spaces and permits.

#### **Allocation**

Carsharing operators are allowed to submit requests biannually to install new or relocate existing onstreet parking spaces. The City conducts a site evaluation for each location requested and provides written notice to property owners and tenants adjacent to a parking space, 30-days prior to installation. NOTE: Carsharing spaces are prohibited from being located in Portland's downtown retail core.

#### Cap

Portland initially had a limit of 100 on-street, metered spaces that could be used for carsharing, and these spaces were allocated evenly among all carsharing operators. Portland's initial policy allowed an unlimited number of unmetered on-street spaces to be converted to carsharing. In January 2009, the City of Portland amended its policy and imposed a parking space cap of 200 spaces per carsharing operator (including metered and unmetered). Requests are reviewed and approved by the City Traffic Engineer.

#### **Fee Structure**

The Bureau of Transportation System Management may establish fees based on cost-of-service and recovery of foregone meter revenue for the installation and maintenance of any on-street carsharing space. Parking permit fees for metered spaces are the equivalent to the average annual cost of foregone parking meter revenue per space in the meter district, plus the administrative and installation costs. Parking permit fees for unmetered spaces are equivalent to the administrative, installation, and maintenance costs. Portland's DOT annually reviews permit fees through a cost of service study assessing meter revenue and maintenance costs. Portland estimates an administrative cost of \$264 per stall annually for providing on-street metered and permitted carsharing parking. Relocating existing on-street spaces at the request of a carsharing operator includes the administrative cost of the removal of the existing space plus the cost of the installation and maintenance of the new space. Carsharing permit fees are regularly reviewed and adjusted through Portland DOT's Cost of Service Study to reflect the most current meter revenue and maintenance costs.

NOTE: Permit fees were 50 percent of the full cost during the first year of this policy. In subsequent years, permit fees were increased to reflect 100 percent of the full cost. Additionally, a carsharing operator may provide a bike rack at a parking space. The installation cost of this bike rack can be deducted as part of the one-time installation fee. Bike racks become property of the City of Portland.

## Permits, Signage, and Markings

Carsharing vehicles parked in reserved carsharing parking must display a designated carsharing parking permit. Carsharing permits are valid for one year and may be renewed on an annual basis. Portland prohibits the use of the public rights-of-way to display advertising or brochures.

## **Requirements of Carsharing Operators**

Permits for parking spaces are issued after receipt of permit fees. Carsharing operators must survey their membership annually on travel behavior. Surveys are jointly developed with and approved by the DOT. Survey results must be provided to the DOT at the beginning of each fiscal year. Carsharing operators must report monthly to the DOT on the use of the public parking spaces, membership, and fleet size. Carsharing operators must pay for all citations and towing fees.

## **Parking Enforcement**

Portland DOT is responsible for notifying carsharing operators of events, street cleaning, and maintenance that require vehicles to be relocated. Parking enforcement attempts to notify the carsharing operator prior to citing or towing vehicles in designated spaces. Carsharing vehicles may be cited or towed for failure to move vehicles promptly upon notification. Only designated staff employed by each carsharing operator can make parking enforcement requests. "Meter maids cite non-carsharing vehicles parked in a carsharing space;" however, the vehicles are rarely towed (Brook 2008). Typically, the city will only immediately tow a vehicle in an emergency (Brook 2008). One principal challenge with parking enforcement is when a non-carsharing vehicle parks in a carsharing space, the carsharing vehicle must then park in another permitted or metered space; this typically yields a citation from the meter maid against the carsharing vehicle (Brook 2008). Other challenges are street cleaning and street closures (block party, construction, and occasionally snow removal). Once or twice a year, Portland restricts parking on one side of the street or the other by posting signs. Proper notification to carsharing operators and members is crucial, and in some cases, carsharing vehicles can be inadvertently towed or the street sweeper maneuvers around the vehicles (Brook 2008).

## **Miscellaneous Policies**

Low usage rates over a six-month period may result in the relocation of a carsharing parking space/permit by the City Traffic Engineer. Some parking spaces have been given up as neither the city or the operator wants to maintain spaces/pods with low usage rates (Brook 2008). Also, the DOT may remove an existing carsharing parking space for construction or maintenance. For example, if construction is happening on an adjacent lot (i.e., the sidewalk and parking is used for staging building materials), the carsharing company has to yield the spot (Brook 2008).

Figure 2 On-Street Parking Provisions for Carsharing in Portland

## WASHINGTON D.C. METROPOLITAN AREA

The Washington D.C. metropolitan area includes the District of Columbia, Arlington County, and WMATA. Carsharing first appeared in the District of Columbia in 2001 when Flexcar and Zipcar launched carsharing services. Flexcar's initial launch included 11 vehicles stationed near WMATA public transit stations (WMATA 2008). In October 2007, Flexcar and Zipcar merged; the on-street parking spaces of both operators were retained and converted to Zipcar parking spaces in most locations throughout the Washington D.C. metropolitan area. As of Fall 2008, there were two carsharing operators in Washington D.C.: Zipcar and U-Haul's U-CarShare. However, only Zipcar has on-street and public transit parking in Washington D.C. and Arlington County. In September 2008, there were an estimated 37,000 carsharing members and 780 carsharing vehicles in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. The DDOT, WMATA, and Arlington County have each allocated on-street and public transit parking in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area to carsharing.

WMATA was the first jurisdiction in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area to incorporate carsharing parking at its Kiss & Ride lots in a 2001 pilot program with Flexcar (WMATA 2008). In 2001, WMATA issued an RFP for their first pilot carsharing program. WMATA's most recent one-year RFP covers 38 stations and may be renewed with one-year extensions (with a maximum of up to five years) (WMATA 2008). Since WMATA covers eight jurisdictions within the transit authority, the pilot had to cover all eight jurisdictions to ensure that equal carsharing access is provided to riders in all of the jurisdictions (WMATA 2008). The pilot started with Flexcar and included the conversion of metered parking at 18 WMATA's Kiss & Ride lots. Meter heads were removed and carsharing signs were erected

at the spots. In 2004, an additional RFP was issued to enable Zipcar participation. Unlike a typical RFP process, WMATA's RFP is not exclusive to one operator (WMATA 2008). The 2004 RFP was granted to both Flexcar and Zipcar, expanding the number of locations to 31 Kiss & Ride lots. Under the current contract, 104 carsharing vehicles are parked at 38 of Metro's 44 short-term, metered Kiss & Ride lots (WMATA 2008). Based on the current number of locations enumerated in WMATA's RFP, there is a cap of 182 parking stalls.

In 2004, Arlington County launched a pilot carsharing program with Flexcar and Zipcar. Arlington County Commuter Services (ACCS) initiated a risk-sharing partnership with Flexcar and Zipcar to increase the number of carsharing vehicles in Arlington County that spring (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). With Arlington County guaranteeing a revenue minimum, Flexcar and Zipcar were assured that placing additional vehicles in uncertain locations would not be prohibitively expensive (ACCS 2005).

This partnership was based on a "subtraction model" in which Flexcar and Zipcar needed approximately \$1,200 per vehicle per month to break-even. Arlington County, Flexcar, and Zipcar deducted the revenue generated from the total needed per vehicle to determine the per month subsidy that was needed, if applicable (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). As part of this risk-sharing partnership, Arlington County allocated on-street parking spaces near WMATA stations. In the first deployment phase, Flexcar and Zipcar were each granted 10 on-street parking spaces (half of which were varied by each location). A year later, Arlington County initiated a second phase during which additional carsharing spaces were added (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008).

In October 2005, the District of Columbia's Municipal Code was amended to allow designated on-street carsharing parking; this resulted in the District's first on-street carsharing spaces. Sections 2406.12 and 2406.13 of the District of Columbia's Municipal Code provide the legislative basis for carsharing parking in Washington, D.C. (District of Columbia 2005).

The District of Columbia does not distinguish between for-profit and non-profit carsharing providers; it allows on-street parking spaces to be dedicated to carsharing vehicles, which must be registered to and operated by a carsharing operator in the District of Columbia and maintain D.C. license plates. Up to seven vehicles must be located in low-income neighborhoods, as defined by the DDOT. The District maintains limitations to prevent carsharing operators from replacing private off-street parking with public on-street parking (District of Columbia 2005).

The carsharing operator must provide the DDOT with data annually to assess the impacts of the parking program. The DDOT receives quarterly data from the operators including membership growth, number of vehicles, and use rates for each vehicle (DDOT 2008). One of the reasons for collecting vehicle usage data is to ensure that the vehicles required by DDOT in low-income neighborhoods are being used. Prior to the merger of Flexcar and Zipcar, Washington, D.C. combined their data to address concerns about the proprietary nature of these numbers (DDOT 2008). See Figure 3 for on-street parking provisions for carsharing in Washington, D.C..

Following the merger of Flexcar and Zipcar, there was a slight reduction in the number of vehicles located in Arlington County. As of September 2008, Arlington County provides 81 on-street parking stalls to Zipcar as part of this program (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). All of the pre-merger carsharing parking spaces at WMATA and in the District of Columbia were maintained; Zipcar operated all of these spaces.

Collectively, these three jurisdictions provide 167 on-street parking spaces and 182 public transit parking stalls designated to carsharing free-of-charge. All three jurisdictions typically collaborate on a bi-annual survey of all carsharing members in the District of Columbia metropolitan area. The bi-annual survey collects information on usage impacts and public transit ridership. At present, all three jurisdictions collect this information; however, only Arlington County has published these in a public study (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). Additionally, all three jurisdictions designate carsharing parking through the same common orange poles and signage.

## **General Provisions**

The Director of the Department of Public Works is authorized to establish reserved on-street parking spaces for the exclusive use of carsharing vehicles. Vehicles must be registered to and operated by a carsharing operator. The carsharing operator must enter into a one-year contract. One-year contracts can be renewed, renegotiated, or terminated based on study evaluation results. Requests for carsharing parking spaces by the operator, neighborhood residents, and tenants must be taken to the respective Advisory Neighborhood Council for endorsement before the District will consider allocating a carsharing space.

## **Allocation**

The Director of the Department of Public Works may authorize spaces, but must consult with affected Advisory Neighborhood Councils within 30 days. Up to seven vehicles must be located in low-income neighborhoods as defined by the DDOT. The carsharing operator must provide a list of pre-existing private parking locations and agree not to eliminate any of these parking locations until the size of their fleet within the District exceeds the list of pre-existing vehicles by 50 percent. In other words, a carsharing provider in the District must provide a list of existing vehicle locations (all off-street) in advance of requesting onstreet spaces and agree not to remove any off-street spaces until their current fleet size exceeds their initial fleet size by 50 percent, thereby attempting to avoid the replacement of private off-street parking with free on-street spaces. The carsharing operator may eliminate one private parking space for each additional public parking space up to a maximum of 25. This does not mean that there is a limit on the number of on-street parking spaces but rather a limitation on the number of private off-street spaces that can be substituted for public on-street parking stalls. Prior to the Flexcar/Zipcar merger, both operators would meet jointly with the DDOT to select on-street parking spaces in a collaborative effort. In some cases, the District allocated tandem spots (spots for two carsharing vehicles) in which one spot would be dedicated to each operator. All parking spaces were converted to Zipcar spaces after the Flexcar/Zipcar merger in October 2007. In 2005, before initiating the on-street parking program, there was concern by the Advisory Neighborhood Council about taking residential permitted parking for carsharing parking spaces. To address these concerns, the DDOT incorporates Advisory Neighborhood Councils into the request/allocation process and prioritizes the creation and conversion of parking spaces. First, the District attempts to create parking spaces where spaces had not existed previously (for instance, loading zones, no-parking zones, and so on), then converts metered spaces, and lastly considers the removal of residential permitted parking. NOTE: Of the 86 carsharing spaces, 46 were created from areas where parking spaces had not existed prior, and 41 were created from the removal of metered parking spaces.

## Cap

The program currently allocates 86 on-street parking spaces for carsharing. There are no municipal offstreet parking garages in the District of Columbia. Prior to the Flexcar/Zipcar merger, the total number of on-street spaces was divided equally between the operators. There is no cap limiting the total number of carsharing parking spaces.

#### **Fee Structure**

The DDOT reserves the right to charge a fee for on-street parking spaces. The District is not currently charging for on-street parking spaces, but is considering parking fees in the future. This may be based on a cost-recovery strategy based upon average annual meter revenue.

## Permits, Signage, and Markings

Orange poles and pavement markings denote carsharing parking spaces. Signage and markings aid in preventing illegal parking and the District in parking enforcement. Currently, the District must install and maintain orange poles and pavement markings. However, the District is working to renegotiate this in subsequent operator contracts to require the operator to install poles and maintain the parking spaces.

## **Requirements of Carsharing Operators**

The carsharing operator must provide the DDOT with quarterly data to assess the impacts of the parking program. The carsharing operator must indemnify the District of Columbia against legal liabilities associated with the use of public space for carsharing operations.

## **Parking Enforcement**

The Director of the Department of Public Works may authorize the Department of Motor Vehicles to issue special license plates to identify carsharing vehicles to aid in parking enforcement; however, this has not been done yet. All carsharing vehicles, regardless of whether they are parked in a public or private space, must be registered in the District of Columbia and maintain D.C. license plates. Both Public Works and the Metropolitan Police Department maintain ticket-writing authority. Unauthorized vehicles parked in carsharing spaces are in violation and subject to fines. Fines for illegal parking in a carsharing spot are \$100 and greater than other parking violations.

## Figure 3 On-Street Parking Provisions for Carsharing in Washington, D.C.

## ARLINGTON COUNTY: BI-ANNUAL CARSHARING PARKING REVIEW

Twice a year, Arlington County reviews its carsharing parking, and operators can request additional parking stalls by completing an application. Additional spaces requested by carsharing operators are examined by Arlington County's transportation demand management and parking offices who evaluate proposed spaces based on their location, feasibility, and concentration of existing carsharing vehicles (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). If Arlington County determines there is demand for a vehicle request, the space is approved (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). It is important to note that there has only been small annual vehicle growth, to date. Arlington County has a policy of not placing more than one carsharing vehicle in front of local retail establishments. Local business owners feel strongly about maintaining open on-street parking adjacent and nearby their establishments (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008).

The on-street spaces allocated in Arlington County were formerly metered spaces prior to their conversion to carsharing parking. Because of the perceived public benefits provided to county residents and commuters, Arlington County does not charge for carsharing parking spaces and has no plans to change this policy (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). Although there was initial concern over lost meter revenue, Arlington County decided that this was insignificant. With over 10,000 parking meters in the county, the number of stalls dedicated to carsharing is considered very minimal (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). Arlington County estimates that the lost revenue can be recovered by adding additional metered spaces elsewhere (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008).

Arlington County has been highly concerned with streetscape management. As such, Arlington County adopted Portland's orange poles for denoting on-street carsharing parking (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). These poles were adopted quickly by other jurisdictions in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. In Arlington County, Flexcar and Zipcar were responsible for the costs, installation, and maintenance of the poles, signage, and striping (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). When non-carsharing vehicles are parked in carsharing stalls, the local police issue tickets to the violating vehicle, and the carsharing vehicle is parked in another open space (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008).

Arlington County meets with the operators quarterly (now Zipcar only) and requests data, including membership and usage/mileage statistics. As part of these quarterly meetings, Arlington County and the operator inspect the stalls to identify any maintenance/operational issues. Although Arlington County does not maintain a written contract, agreement, or permit with the operators, they are considering this in the future (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). It is interesting to note that Arlington County encourages carsharing to be incorporated into new developments in a transportation management plan as part of the transportation demand management and site planning development process (Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services 2008). See Figure 3 for on-street parking provisions for carsharing in Washington, D.C.

## SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA

Carsharing first appeared in San Francisco with the Short-Term Auto Rental (STAR) demonstration project from 1983 to 1985. Carsharing re-emerged in San Francisco in 2001 with the launch of the non-profit operator City CarShare. In August and October 2005, two for-profit operators, Flexcar and Zipcar also launched service in San Francisco (and later merged in October 2007). As of Fall 2008, there were three carsharing operators in San Francisco—City CarShare, Zipcar, and for-profit U-Haul's U-CarShare. City CarShare and Zipcar also serve Berkeley and Oakland in the East Bay.

In September 2008, there were an estimated 26,000 carsharing members and 900 carsharing vehicles in the San Francisco metropolitan area. In October 2008, the City of San Francisco issued a request for quote (or RFQ) for carsharing with the objective of reducing municipal operating expenses and enhancing its fleet service quality. The City of San Francisco has allocated two city parking spots on a one-time basis to City CarShare

and the BART District provides public transit parking to City CarShare and Zipcar. These spots are "on-street", but were never part of the public right-of-way, rather they belonged to the City. Thus, use by City Carshare of an allocation of city property, than a result of policy with respect to ceding on-street, public right of way. At present, a U-Carshare fleet of PT Cruiser vehicles is only parked at U-haul locations within the city.

## SAN FRANCISCO

In San Francisco, carsharing parking policy is developed and implemented by the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA). In San Francisco, City CarShare pays the discounted carpool rate for municipal off-street parking (approximately 50 percent of the full monthly rate) (City of San Francisco 2005, SFMTA 2008). City CarShare has only two on-street parking spaces on Polk Street across from San Francisco City Hall. These spaces are provided free-of-charge and were approved on a one-time basis by the San Francisco Board of Supervisors (City Carshare 2008). At present, the SFMTA is not actively considering carsharing parking policy development, but plans to re-evaluate both off-street and on-street carsharing policies in the future. Carsharing parking policy development will resume when the SFMTA completes the implementation of the San Francisco parking pilot project, SFpark, using demand responsive parking to manage pricing and availability throughout the day for the city's parking districts (SFMTA 2008). In addition, the planning code of the City of San Francisco has taken initiative to encourage carsharing through parking provision. The Municipal Planning Code Section 166 states that carsharing spaces must be provided in new developments that meet certain size requirements. The level of required carsharing parking allocation is dependent on the development size. Only carsharing organizations that are certified by the city through a third-party evaluation can be eligible for such spaces. The carsharing requirements stated in the municipal code are presented in Table 7 (City of San Francisco, 2009).

Table 7 Parking Requirements within the San Francisco Planning Code Section 166

Number of Residential Units	Number of Required Car Share Parking Spaces
0 - 49	0
50 - 200	1
201 or more	2, plus 1 for every 200 dwelling units over 200
Number of Parking Spaces Provided for Non-Residential Uses or in a Non-Accessory Parking Facility	Number of Required Car Share Parking Spaces
0 - 24	0
25 - 49	1
50 or more	1, plus 1 for every 50 parking spaces over 50

## **Berkeley**

In Berkeley, the City Council has allocated eight spots (two off-street and six in municipal garages) on a case-by-case basis to City CarShare, which has maintained a fleet agreement with the city since 2004.

## **BART DISTRICT**

From 1999 to 2000, there were a series of demonstration/pilot studies of shared-vehicle systems at BART stations, including CarLink I (1999) at the Dublin-Pleasanton BART station and Hertz (2000) at the Fremont BART station. Both programs incorporated traditional and reverse commute travel patterns where two or more commuters shared one vehicle (for example, commuters traveling on BART to work and commuters traveling from home to BART).

Initially, BART staff was concerned about allocating parking spaces to carsharing because most of the parking lots were already full. BART wanted the carsharing operators to conduct surveys and demonstrate that BART users were indeed using the carsharing vehicles parked in their lots (BART 2008). Based on this initial concern, BART encouraged City CarShare to approach the City of Berkeley and other local governments to request on-street parking spaces near BART stations (BART 2008). Although difficult to measure the direct benefits of the carsharing spaces on BART users, the staff eventually concluded that carsharing spaces augmented public transportation use (BART 2008).

In July 2002, the BART District and City CarShare entered into a pilot program in which BART allocated up to 24 parking spaces for City CarShare vehicles at various BART stations. Initially, two City CarShare vehicles were placed per station at BART's Glen Park station in San Francisco and the Rockridge and Lake Merritt stations in Oakland; the spaces were provided free-of-charge (BART 2008).

In 2006, two additional for-profit companies, Flexcar and Zipcar, launched carsharing services in the San Francisco market. In February 2006, BART's board approved parking for Flexcar and Zipcar in an Executive Decision Document calling for the expansion of carsharing services, which allocated eight parking spaces to each operator (BART 2008). Accordingly, BART parking stalls are allocated to a carsharing operator rather than carsharing as a vehicle class. In October 2007, Flexcar and Zipcar merged, under Zipcar's name. At that time, Zipcar acquired the former Flexcar parking spaces at BART under the pre-existing real estate permit negotiated by the operators and BART (BART 2008).

BART has two types of parking at many of its transit stations: monthly reserved and daily parking. Parking costs vary by BART station. A monthly reserved parking space ranges from \$30 to \$115.50, and daily parking fees range from \$1 to \$5 (BART 2009). Typically, up to 25 percent of a station's parking lot is dedicated to monthly reserved parking, and at most of the stations, this parking is sold out with a waitlist (BART 2008). Parking for monthly permit holders is reserved until 10AM and is available for other users after that. BART also has a daily fee (pay-per-use) and single day reserved parking. For BART's daily parking, a driver has the option of pre-purchasing a single-day reserved permit online or can park in a numbered parking stall and pay for their parking with either cash or a BART ticket inside the fare gate areas to ensure that parking is being used by BART riders (BART 2008). BART also offers airport/long-term parking at a limited number of South Bay and East Bay locations.

BART's real estate department negotiates a permit agreement with each carsharing operator, which includes general terms and a liability release (BART 2008). Carsharing operators are responsible for signage and maintenance. BART has a policy of only allowing a maximum of three parking spaces per operator at each station (BART 2008). Most often, monthly permitted spaces have been converted to carsharing, and the carsharing operator must pay the monthly parking fee at that the respective station ranging from \$63 to \$115 per month per space (BART 2008). Non-carsharing vehicles parking in assigned carsharing spaces can be problematic. BART charges a \$40 initial fine for permit-related violations with additional late fees. However, like other monthly reserved parking, BART's parking enforcement will cite/fine non-carsharing vehicles parked in carsharing stalls (BART 2008).

At many BART stations, there is a waiting list for monthly reserved spaces that exceeds the total number of parking stalls. An individual can remain on the waitlist for a monthly reserved space from a couple of months to a couple of years to acquire a parking permit, depending upon the station. Carsharing operators are exempt from the general waitlist process to request permitted spaces (BART 2008).

## PUBLIC PERCEPTIONS OF PARKING FOR CARSHARING

In September 2008, an intercept survey was administered to pedestrians in the San Francisco Bay Area to understand the public's opinions about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing. See Appendix C for the survey instrument. A total of 425 clipboard surveys were collected from four locations: downtown San Francisco near City Hall/Civic Center (19 percent); the Rockridge neighborhood near the Rockridge BART station in Oakland (39 percent); Downtown Oakland near the Convention Center (28 percent); and Downtown Berkeley between the Downtown Berkeley BART station and Berkeley City Hall (28 percent). Carsharing organizations participated in the pretesting of the surveys and provided comments on the instrument design. In particular, one carsharing organization requested that we address the distinction between for profit and non-profit carsharing in the survey design. All locations were in urban areas with rail and bus transit, carsharing service, and on- or off-street carsharing parking. These areas are typical of those where carsharing parking would be located, and respondents in this area were more likely to have exposure and knowledge of carsharing and parking. Language barriers proved to be a challenge to survey implementation in some areas, and as a result, new locations were selected to ensure adequate response. The resources available to this project did not allow for implementation in languages other than English. The results of this survey are applicable to the neighborhoods in the Bay Area in which they were implemented, and they are not generalizable to the entire region.

Because the survey was an intercept survey, the respondent pool is subject to some degree of self-selection. The survey was also administered in locations that had a high degree of transit accessibility via both rail and bus. In addition, all of the locations had limited parking supply, as they were all urban locations. The Rockridge neighborhood was the least dense and most residential of the selected sites. This neighborhood is a high traffic commercial main street that is a destination for many, as well as a key route to the University of California. Thus, the survey provides preliminary insight as to whether there are critical trends of support or opposition for carsharing parking. However, these results cannot necessarily characterize the balance of opinions in other regions of the country, which may be different. For similar regions, however, this survey can inform researchers of what to explore and perhaps enable improvements in future studies.

## **DEMOGRAPHIC ATTRIBUTES**

The demographics of the respondents illustrate a working age population with a racial mix slightly skewed towards Caucasians and Asians in comparison to the general population. The survey respondents were split equally by gender. A little more than two-thirds were between the ages of 18 to 45 (68 percent), an additional 17 percent were between the ages of 46 and 55, and 11 percent were between 56 and 65. Only, three percent of the sample was older than 65. Most identified themselves as Caucasian (63 percent), followed by Asian (11 percent), then African American and Latino (each at nine percent), and Native American and Pacific Islander races constituting two percent, collectively. Table 7 illustrates a complete distribution of the age and gender profile.

**Table 8 Demographic Attributes of Respondents** 

Gender (N=419)	Percent
Males	48
Females	48
No Answer	4
Age (N=405)	Percent
18-25	19
26-35	28
36-45	21
46-55	17
56-65	11
>65	3
No Answer	1

## CARSHARING EXPOSURE

Respondents were asked whether they were familiar with carsharing prior to the survey. Eighty-six percent of the sample indicated that they were familiar with it, while ten percent also were members of a carsharing organization. The respondents were then asked a series of questions about their relationship to the neighborhood in which they were surveyed, their perception of local on-street parking, and relative support or opposition to allocating certain types of existing spaces towards carsharing. The results show that respondents were generally more supportive of allocating parking to carsharing than they were against it. However, there are some key caveats that should be understood.

Respondents had different relationships with the neighborhood in which they were surveyed. Some lived locally, others worked locally, while others were visiting for a variety of reasons. How these groups reacted to carsharing parking was different. First, it is important to understand how they perceive parking supply within their neighborhood. Table 8 shows the respondent's perception of parking supply as defined by their location when taking the intercept survey and the reason they were in the region.

Table 8 shows that most respondents feel that more parking is desired within the neighborhood. This was generally true regardless of the neighborhood and regardless of the reason the respondent was in the area. That is, both residents and visitors in each neighborhood generally felt that parking was not in oversupply, and this is important when considering their general support for allocating some of this limited parking supply to carsharing.

Table 9 Perception of Parking Supply by Location and by Purpose at Intercept Location

	Response Category	Way too little parking; I wish there was more	It would be nice to have more parking	There is just enough parking	There is too much parking, there should be less	Unsure	No opinion	Other	Total (Repondents)
Within this neighborhood,	Civic Center SF	21%	25%	27%	5%	3%	8%	11%	75
what is your opinion of on-street	Rockridge Bart	17%	32%	32%	3%	1%	6%	8%	161
parking supply (or the amount of on-street	Downtown Berkeley	35%	30%	13%	4%	0%	5%	14%	111
parking)?	Downtown Oakland	18%	32%	21%	5%	0%	9%	16%	57
	All Together (%)	23%	30%	24%	4%	1%	6%	11%	404
	I work or attend school in the neighborhood	28%	29%	23%	1%	1%	5%	12%	164
	I am a resident and live in the neighborhood	17%	32%	32%	6%	1%	5%	7%	95
What is the	I am visiting the neighborhood for shopping	29%	40%	14%	0%	0%	6%	11%	35
primary purpose of your trip today?	I am visiting the neighborhood for dining	19%	37%	15%	19%	0%	0%	11%	27
	I am visiting the neighborhood to participate in	21%	14%	28%	5%	0%	19%	14%	43
	Other	16%	38%	24%	3%	3%	3%	14%	37
	Total (Respondents)	92	122	97	16	4	25	45	401

Table 9 illustrates how people at different survey sites for a variety of reasons either supported or opposed carsharing parking in that location. Table 10(a) presents respondents' relationship with the neighborhood as classified by the specific neighborhood. Table 10(b) shows the relative support or opposition that respondents had for converting specific types of parking spaces within the respective neighborhood. The percents shown are the "percent of respondents within the neighborhood" as defined by the column in both sections of the table.

Table 10 Respondent Relationship with Neighborhood and Support for Carsharing Parking

(a) What is the primary purpose o											
Location	Civic Co	enter SF	Rockri	Rockridge Bart		Downtown Berkeley		Downtown Oakland		Total	
I work or attend school in the neighborhood	50	50%		27%		50%		51%		173	
I am a resident and live in the neighborhood	13	13%		2%	20	20%		9%	98		
I am visiting the neighborhood for shopping	6	6%		13%		5%		%	35		
I am visiting the neighborhood for dining	5'	5%		%	6%		8%		28		
I am visiting the neighborhood to participate in recreational or social activities	12	12%		10%		14%		%	46		
Other	14%		10%		5%		12%		41		
Total	78		166		118		59		421		
(b) Which types of spaces would y	ou oppose	/support co	nverting fo	or the purp	ose of desi	gnated car	sahring use	e only?			
Location	Civic Co	enter SF	Rockridge Bart		Downtown Berkeley		Downtown Oakland		Total		
Response	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	
Metered parking	37%	39%	24%	56%	29%	47%	35%	53%	124	213	
Taxi zones	22%	47%	19%	49%	18%	45%	13%	47%	77	200	
Truck loading zones	25%	32%	29%	36%	25%	30%	30%	37%	116	143	
"No parking" or "No Stopping Zones"	19%	39%	20%	43%	22%	39%	15%	53%	83	182	
On-street permitted parking	30%	28%	26%	46%	20%	35%	25%	47%	107	169	
Reallocating exsiting parking spaces	18%	44%	17%	46%	13%	45%	17%	43%	67	191	
Other	3%	6%	1%	5%	8%	7%	8%	2%	17	23	
I would be fine with any of these	<i>C</i> 0/	22%	5%	19%	6%	21%	3%	22%	23	87	
spaces being converted	6%	22/0	370	17/0	070	2170	370	2270		23 67	

Table 9(a) shows that half the people surveyed in the downtown locations were there for work or school. Rockridge was more atypical with nearly a 30-30 split between workers and residents. Table 9(b) provides the percentage of people supporting or opposing the

conversion of a specific type of space to a dedicated carsharing space. Respondents were allowed to pick more than one response, so the percentages do not sum to 100 but reflect the percentage of respondents electing each specific option among others. With a few exceptions, more people supported the conversion of spaces to carsharing than opposed them in each neighborhood. This occurred because a typical respondent supported the conversion of more spaces then they opposed. For example, roughly 70 percent of all respondents opposed the conversion of at least one type of space, while 93 percent of all respondents supported the conversion of at least one type of space. Thus, most respondents had opinions about the types of spaces that they would support and oppose for carsharing conversion. Table 11 illustrates this result in the context of the respondent's relationship with the neighborhood.

Table 11 Neighborhood Relationship and Carsharing Parking Support and Opposition

Purpose of Trip	I work or attend school in the neighborhood		I am a resident and live in the neighborhood		I am visiting the neighborhood for shopping		I am visiting the neighborhood for dining		I am visiting the neighborhood to participate in recreational or social activities		Other	
Type of Space	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support	Oppose	Support
Metered parking	36%	46%	19%	66%	31%	40%	25%	46%	22%	48%	34%	49%
Taxi zones	19%	46%	17%	51%	23%	43%	18%	36%	11%	57%	20%	46%
Truck loading zones	23%	31%	31%	41%	23%	34%	39%	32%	24%	43%	37%	20%
"No parking" or "No Stopping Zones"	22%	40%	19%	45%	17%	40%	18%	43%	20%	50%	15%	46%
On-street permitted parking	27%	35%	23%	54%	17%	46%	36%	32%	26%	37%	22%	34%
Reallocating exsiting parking spaces	13%	43%	19%	51%	20%	40%	25%	46%	11%	54%	12%	34%
Other	6%	5%	2%	6%	0%	6%	4%	0%	7%	9%	2%	5%
I would be fine with any of these spaces being converted	7%	20%	3%	22%	9%	17%	4%	25%	2%	20%	7%	20%
Total persons within PURPOSE OF TRIP Category	1'	73	ç	98	3	35	2	28	4	16	4	1

Table 11 also shows that support for converting some spaces to carsharing generally outweighs opposition. In particular, the difference between percentages of support and opposition are largest among those who are neighborhood residents. This result is important because it suggests that allocating parking for carsharing may receive less opposition from locals than from people commuting into the neighborhood. In addition, the data also show that opposition to converting some spaces within a neighborhood is not insignificant. That is, the conversion of any of the listed spaces was opposed by at least 20 percent of people living in a neighborhood. Hence, while support does outweigh opposition, there is no type of space that is universally endorsed for conversion to carsharing parking.

Finally, respondents were also asked whether they thought carsharing organizations should compensate the city for on-street spaces. About half thought that they should (48 percent), approximately one third thought they should not (33 percent), and the remaining were unsure. When respondents were asked whether a different policy should exist for granting

on-street parking to for-profit versus non-profit carsharing providers, about 61 percent agreed, while 23 percent thought there should be no difference with the rest uncertain. More than half of the respondents (53 percent) indicated that carsharing operators should be required to obtain consent from neighboring residents and businesses before converting a parking space to carsharing. This emphasizes the importance of public involvement in carsharing parking policy development.

Overall, respondents, and particularly residents, offered more support than opposition to allocating parking to carsharing. While the survey suggests support, it does not reflect a unanimous endorsement of parking for carsharing and finds that a large portion of the respondents feel that carsharing organizations should compensate the city for spaces.

## CONCLUSION

The provision of on-street parking dedicated to carsharing vehicles is an important policy issue confronting local governments. Some of the municipal parking policies include:

1) provisions for on-street parking; 2) exemption from parking time limits; 3) creation of carsharing parking zones; 4) free or reduced cost parking spaces and/or parking permits; 5) universal parking permits (for instance, carsharing vehicles can be returned to any on-street location); and 6) formalized processes for assigning on-street parking spaces.

When considering the allocation of on-street and public off-street carsharing parking, local governments should consider addressing the following questions:

- How will carsharing be defined (for example, for-profit operators, non-profit operators, hourly rentals)?
- What will be the procedure for allocating carsharing parking (for example, city council, parking authority)?
- Should there be a different policy for providing parking or charging fees between for-profit and non-profit carsharing providers?
- How will the local government manage competition among multiple players seeking carsharing parking and how will disputes be managed?
- What is the methodology for valuing the parking spaces and will an operator be charged (for example, cost-recovery based on lost meter revenue or permit fees, administrative and maintenance expenditures, and market-based valuation of parking in a vicinity)?
- What policies will the city need to implement to address permits, signage, and parking enforcement for carsharing vehicles?
- What are the primary goals of the community in providing on-street or other parking spaces to carsharing organizations?

Local governments in North America have addressed the issue of carsharing parking in a number of ways. With respect to on-street parking, some cities have established "option zones" that designate on-street carsharing parking. Other cities have allocated parking stalls for carsharing as a "vehicle-class" rather than dedicating parking spots to specific carsharing operators. In other cities, some operators are charged for on-street parking at the rate of foregone meter revenue or permit fees. With respect to public off-street parking, a number of cities provide market rate, discounted, and free parking in municipal parking

lots and garages to carsharing.

Based on the four case studies and expert interviews, the authors have identified three policy tracks that local governments and public transit operators might use as a model for developing their carsharing parking policies. These policy approaches include a sample policy framework for parking allocation, caps, fees/permits, signage/installation, impact studies, enforcement, and public involvement based on varying degrees of governmental support. The first framework, "carsharing as an environmental benefit," is an example of maximum governmental support. The second framework, "carsharing as a sustainable business," provides moderate support to carsharing, and the final framework, "carsharing as a business," provides a minimum level of governmental support. The details of these three frameworks are described in Table 11.

Conclusion

**Table 12 Carsharing Parking Policy Approaches for Local Governments** 

	Carsharing as an Environ- mental Benefit Maximum Governmental Support	Carsharing as a Sustainable Business Moderate Governmental Support	Carsharing as a Business Minimum Governmental Support
Allocation	Jurisdiction may allocate parking spaces on a case-by-case basis or through more informal processes, such as non-binding council/board of director resolutions.	Jurisdiction that once allocated parking spaces through an informal process, formalizes this process.	Jurisdiction maintains a highly formalized and established process for the allocation of carsharing parking spaces, including a process for allocation among multiple operators.
Caps (for instance, limit on number of carsharing spaces)	Does not impose any cap on the number of carshar- ing spaces or percentage of spaces that may be convert- ed to carsharing.	May impose a cap on the number and location of carsharing spaces or the total percentage of spaces jurisdiction-wide that may be converted to carsharing.	Imposes a cap on the number and location of carsharing spaces or the total percentage of spaces jurisdictionwide, which may be converted to carsharing.
Fees and Permits	Recognizing the social and environmental benefits of carsharing, parking is provided free-of-charge or significantly below market cost.	Fees may be based on cost recovery of parking provision (for instance, foregone meter revenue, administrative costs, and so on). Fees may be reduced to reflect environmental goals, such as charging a reduced carpool rate for carsharing parking.	Fees based on a cost recovery or profit-based methodology. This could include permit costs, lost meter revenue, and administrative expenses for program management.
Signage, Mark- ings, and Instal- lation	Jurisdiction pays for the sign installation and maintenance, striping, and markings.	Jurisdiction pays for the instal- lation and operator pays for the maintenance of signage, strip- ing, and markings.	Requires carsharing operator to pay for the installation and maintenance of signage, striping, and markings.
Social and Envi- ronmental Impact Studies	Require that carsharing operators study and document local social and environmental benefits at regular intervals.	May require that carsharing operators study and document local social and environmental benefits on a one-time basis or at regular intervals.	Does not require any social and environmental impact study of carsharing.
Parking Enforce- ment	Local police may maintain ticket authority. Citations for parking in carsharing stalls are greater than most other parking violations.	Local police may maintain ticket/citation authority.	Local police may have ticketing authority. Citations for parking in carsharing spots are the same as most other parking violations.
Public Involve- ment	Informal process, if any, led by the jurisdiction to elicit public input into the location and number of carsharing parking spots allocated. Staff may determine this internally without public comment.	Informal process where the jurisdiction and carsharing organization seek public input into the location and number of carsharing parking spots through public notification and staff management of possible public concerns.	Highly formalized process where carsharing organization is responsible for obtaining public input and approval on the location and number of carsharing parking spots through neighborhood councils, commissions, or formal hearings.

Public involvement is an important aspect of allocating carsharing parking and should be incorporated into the process for allocating parking stalls. Public involvement in this process can reduce opposition to the conversion of pre-existing parking stalls and provide both jurisdictions and operators with valuable information on the highest demand/highest potential use locations. The particular method of public involvement should reflect the unique institutions and policy procedures established in each jurisdiction. Some examples of public involvement could include endorsement by neighborhood councils (as in Washington, D.C.); a public comment, hearing, and approval process on the allocation of parking stalls; or an appointed/elected body to comment or approve parking requests. Some jurisdictions have provided city councils and parking authorities with varying degrees of authority over carsharing parking, which can include public involvement through regular meetings and public comment periods.

Indeed, the results of a survey exploring San Francisco Bay Area residents' opinions about the provision of on-street parking for carsharing underscore the importance of public involvement in carsharing parking policy development. More respondents indicated a willingness to convert spaces to carsharing than to oppose conversion to carsharing use only. The types of parking that had both the greatest support and least opposition to conversion to carsharing parking were taxi zones, no parking/no stopping zones, and restriping existing parking spaces; however, a large share of respondents did support conversion of metered parking. About half of respondents thought that carsharing organizations should compensate the city for these on-street spaces. Among those that thought that carsharing organizations should compensate the city for these spaces, most indicated that the organization should pay a reduced cost (52 percent), the cost of the parking permit (19 percent), or the cost of lost meter revenue. Many felt that there should be a different policy for granting on-street parking to for-profit carsharing providers versus non-profit carsharing providers (61 percent).

In the future, operator competition is expected to increase in many local jurisdictions. As such, local governments and public transit operators should develop forward-looking policies that provide an equitable means of allocating parking stalls (both in terms of the total number and location). To address the total number of stalls, local jurisdictions can either limit the number of spaces allocated per operator; provide a limited number of spaces per a given membership level (for example, one parking stall per 100 members served); or choose not to limit the number of carsharing spaces. Some of the methods that can be used to address competition over the location of parking stalls between operators include a first-come/first-served policy, lottery, collaborative process negotiated with the parking authority and all service providers, and tandem stalls (more than one operator with an equal number of adjacent stalls).

A broader issue that is also relevant to consider is the orchestration of parking policies that support organizations such as carsharing along with the overall appropriate pricing of parking within the urban environment. Parking, a long underpriced urban commodity is an asset that many cities are looking to direct in more intelligent ways. Parking has long been a necessary accessory to the automobile and often a source of public costs. Policies aimed at congestion mitigation and demand management in conjunction with broader demand responsive pricing may be a trend aimed at parking demand management in the coming decades. There are a number of methods that can be used for assessing the value

of on-street parking spaces provided to carsharing operators. On-street parking fees can be based on the costs of residential parking permits, foregone meter revenue, operations and maintenance, or market cost for private or public off-street parking in a given parking district or municipal jurisdiction. Additionally, jurisdictions may choose to charge fees for converting parking stalls, including conversion costs associated with removing meters, striping curbs, and administrative overhead.

Parking policies should include enforcement mechanisms to prevent non-carsharing vehicles from parking in carsharing-only stalls. Jurisdictions should ensure that they have the proper statutory authority at a minimum to ticket violators.

With respect to distinguishing between carsharing and car rental services, local governments should cautiously weigh the nature of the services being provided and their impacts on the transportation network. One way to assess the services provided is to require operators to conduct usage/impact surveys and provide regular feedback to local governments. Similarly, public transit operators can require similar surveys of operators to ensure that public transit riders are using the carsharing vehicles.

# APPENDIX A: CARSHARING OPERATOR SURVEY

# **Basic Metrics: Parking**

1. Do the jurisdictions in which your organizations operate provide <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> for shared-use vehicles?
No If no, please skip to question 3.
Yes If yes, please specify as of June 30, 2007, the number of PUBLIC ON-STREET parking spaces by jurisdiction below.
2a. Is your organization charged for <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> ?
No If no, please skip to question 2c.
Yes <b>If yes</b> , explain how <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> rates are calculated by jurisdiction.
2b. Does your organization compete with another carsharing operator(s) for <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> ?
No If no, please skip to question 2d.
Yes If yes, please explain how additional operators have affected the cost of PUBLIC ON-STREET parking in your market.
2c. Did your organization provide any non-monetary compensation in exchange for discounted or free <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> rates (e.g., low-emission vehicles or placement in low-income areas)?
No
Yes If yes, please specify by jurisdiction below.
2d. How were <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET parking</b> spaces converted to shared-use parking? Please check all that apply below.
Conversion of metered parking Conversion of truck loading zones Conversion of taxi zones Conversion from no stopping or no parking zones

56	Appendix A. Carsharing Operator Survey
Re-st	nptions from parking time limits riping existing parking spaces r, please specify
	are <b>PUBLIC ON-STREET</b> shared-use vehicle parking spaces identified by on (e.g., orange mobility node in D.C.) ?
-	
	the jurisdictions in which your organizations operate provided <b>PUBLIC OFF- parking</b> for shared-use vehicles?
No	If no, please skip to question 4.
	If yes, please specify as of June 30, 2007, the number of PUBLIC OFF-parking spaces by jurisdiction below.
3b. Is you	ur organization charged for PUBLIC OFF-STREET parking?
No	If no, please skip to question 3d.
Yes jurisdictio	If yes, please specify the charge for PUBLIC OFF-STREET parking by on below.
3c. Pleas jurisdiction	e explain how <b>PUBLIC OFF-STREET parking</b> rates are calculated by on?
	your organization compete with another carsharing operator(s) for <b>PUBLIC REET parking</b> ?
No	If no, please skip to question 3e.
	If yes, please explain how additional operators have affected the cost of OFF-STREET parking in your market.
discounte	our organization provide any non-monetary compensation in exchange for ed or free <b>PUBLIC OFF-STREET parking</b> rates (e.g., low emissions vehicles on the interior of the inter
No	
	If yes, please specify by jurisdiction.

58	Appendix A:	Carsharing Operator Survey

# APPENDIX B: EXPERT INTERVIEW SCRIPT

- 1										
	In	ŤΙ	rr	$\sim$	lı ı	ıct	1	$\sim$	n	•
		ш		и.			ш			

Hello, my name is \_\_\_\_\_\_\_. I am a researcher at the University of California, Berkeley. I am working on a research project, sponsored by the University of California, Berkeley and the Mineta Transportation Institute, examining the public parking policies related to carsharing. As part of this study, we are conducting interviews with experts to explore their experiences and opinions on this issue. Your name has been provided to me as someone who is knowledgeable about this topic. Are you willing to be interviewed? This interview should take 10 to 15 minutes. Is this a good time or could we schedule a time that is more convenient for you?

- II. Preliminary Information
  - 1. Identify name, position, and organization.
  - 2. Time at which the interview took place.
  - 3. Interview conducted by telephone or meeting?
- III. Experience/Background of Interviewee
  - 4. In your current position at XXXX, what is your role in carsharing parking?
  - 5. How long have you been involved in carsharing parking policy and in what have you done to address this issue?
- IV. Perceptions
  - 6. In general, what are the benefits and drawbacks of providing parking to carsharing operators?
- V. Proposed or Existing Policy
  - 7. Is your organization/agency providing or considering providing on-street or other types of parking to a carsharing operator(s)? Why?
- VI. Legal and Institutional Barriers
  - 8. Has your organization encountered (or do you think it will encounter) legal barriers to dedicating public parking to a carsharing operator(s)? Yes or No? If Yes go to a. If No, go to 9.
    - a) How have you (or do you plan) to address these barriers?
    - b) What sorts of amendments to state and/or local laws or regulations, if any, are required to legally implement a range of carsharing parking options in your area?

- c) What criteria do you think carsharing providers need to fulfill to get allocated spaces?
- d) What type of information, if any, do you think carsharing operators should report to the granting authority?
- 9. Are there any other institutional barriers that you may have faced implementing and/or operating your program or planned carsharing parking program? If so, how was it or will it be addressed? If Yes go to a. If No, go to 10.
  - a) How have you (or do you plan) to address these barriers?

## VII. Program/Policy Implementation & Allocation

- 10. Next, we have some questions about the specifics of how you implement (or plan to implement) the provisions of public parking for carsharing vehicles. Do you provide (or plan to provide) on-street parking and/or off-street parking to carsharing vehicles?
  - a) [If they have on-street parking or plan to have it] Have you (or are you planning to) converted loading zones, taxi zones, and/or metered parking to carsharing parking? [Ask only if this had not been addressed previously] Have you (or do you think you might) encountered barriers to converting these spaces to carsharing parking?
  - b) Do you allow (or plan to) special signage or other mechanisms for identifying these spaces? [Ask only if this had not been addressed previously] Are there regulations governing this or is it at the discretion of the operator?
- 11. Is there an established process (or do you plan to develop one) of requesting and allocating this parking? If Yes, go to a. If No, go to 12.
  - a) How does this process work (or how do you think this process will work)? How was it developed (or how are you developing this process)? If no, how is (or how will) the parking (be) allocated?
- 12. [If they have a program in place] Have you changed the way parking is allocated since you first started allocating carsharing parking? If yes, why and what did you change? If No, go to 13.

## VIII. Valuation of Parking

- 13. Are carsharing organizations charged (or will they be charged) for on-street or off-street parking? If Yes, go to a. If No, go to 14.
  - a) How is (or will) this charge be calculated? Does it (or will it) be based on any of the following? If so, how? If not, why?
    - 1. Lost meter revenue,
    - 2. Market value of public parking spaces,
    - 3. Market value of private off-street spaces,

- 4. Avoided auto ownership and operation costs,
- 5. Increased public transit use,
- 6. Decreased vehicle miles traveled (due to modal shift),
- 7. Improved air quality,
- 8. Social benefits to low-income households,
- 9. Increased public transit ridership, and
- 10. More efficient use of roadways and parking facilities.
- 14. Is there (or do you think there should be) a different policy for granting on-street parking spaces and requiring compensation between for-profit and non-profit carsharing providers? Why or why not?

## IX. Public Perception

15. [If this hasn't been covered elsewhere] Have you experienced any public opposition for your program or planned program? If so, how was it or will it be addressed?

## X. Closing Thoughts

- 16. [Ask only if interviewing a transit operator] How does (or how might) public transit station parking policies encourage carsharing? Can you identify any specific challenges to the implementation of such parking?
- 17. Can you share any relevant documentation on parking and carsharing (e.g., legislation, reports, etc.) with us?
- 18. Is there anything that you might like to add to this interview?
- 19. Do you have any take away messages with which you want to leave us?
- 20. Can you recommend anyone else we may want to interview for this study?

Thank you very much for participating in this study. We really appreciate your time. (Obtain email address)

Appendix B: Expert Interview Script	

62

# APPENDIX C: PUBLIC OPINION SURVEY

Researchers at the University of California, Berkeley and Mineta Transportation Institute invite you to take a short survey on carsharing. It should take no more than 10 minutes. The purpose of this survey is to understand your opinions about possible provision of on-street parking for carsharing vehicles. The information that is obtained in connection with this study will not be linked to you in anyway. Your participation in this study is anonymous, and you may choose to withdraw at any time.

First, I would like to read you a definition of carsharing, accepted by the majority of operators in North America.

"All Car sharing organizations offer members access to network of shared vehicles, 24-hours, 7 days a week, at unattended self-service locations. Car share services include gas, insurance and maintenance. Car sharing organizations help members save money over the cost of individual car ownership by encouraging members to drive less often, plan trips more, use other modes of transportation more, and drive fuel efficient vehicles when a car is needed. Car sharing is defined by its environmental and social purpose: to decrease individual car ownership, provide affordable access to vehicles for all constituencies—including those less able to afford car ownership—as well as motivating residents to walk, cycle and take public transportation, and dependence on fossil fuels while reducing the emission of greenhouse gases."

1) Wer No	re you familiar with carsharing prior to this sເ	ırvey?	[ ]	Yes	[]				
2) If ye years	2) If yes, approximately how long have you known about it?: months or years								
3) Hov	v did you first learn about it?								
4) Are No	you a member of a carsharing organization?	>	[]	Yes	[]				
[ ]	at is the primary purpose of your trip today? I work or attend school in the neighborhood I am a resident and live in the neighborhood I am visiting the neighborhood to:  [ ]	d.   Sho   Dino   Par	op e ticipate i	n Recrea					
[ ]	Other:	500	cial Activi	แยร					

4) How did you arrive here today? (Please select one response.)  [ ] Private Automobile  [ ] Bicycle  [ ] Walking [ ] Transit (Bus, BART, etc.) [ ] Other:	5) Do you ever park a car in this area?  [ ] Yes [ ] No  If yes, then how frequently: times a weektimes per month
6) Within this neighborhood, what is your opinion of on-street parking supply (or the amount of on-street parking)? (Please select one response.)  [ ] Way too little parking; I wish there was more.  [ ] It would be nice to have more parking.  [ ] There is just enough parking.  [ ] It would be nice to have a little less parking.  [ ] There is too much parking, there should be less.  [ ] Unsure  [ ] No opinion  [ ]  Other	7) To what extent (overall) do you feel that onstreet parking improves or detracts from the quality of the surrounding neighborhood (in terms of quality-of-life, safety, access, etc.)? (Please select one response.)  [ ] Greatly detracts from the quality of the neighborhood [ ] Somewhat detracts from the quality of the neighborhood [ ] Makes no difference to the quality of the neighborhood [ ] Somewhat improves the quality of the neighborhood [ ] Greatly improves the quality of the neighborhood [ ] Unsure [ ] No opinion [ ] Other
8) If carsharing parking were established estreet space might be allocated.  a) Which types of spaces would you <i>oppose</i> converting for the purpose of designated carsharing use only? (please select all that apply) <read "no="" [="" ]="" accepting="" all="" answers="" before="" existing="" loading="" metered="" on-street="" or="" other<="" parking="" parking"="" permitted="" reallocating="" response="" space="" stopping="" taxi="" td="" truck="" zones="" zones"=""><td>[ ] Metered parking [ ] Taxi zones [ ] Truck loading zones [ ] "No Parking" or "No Stopping Zones" [ ] On-street permitted parking es [ ] Reallocating existing parking spaces [ ] Other</td></read>	[ ] Metered parking [ ] Taxi zones [ ] Truck loading zones [ ] "No Parking" or "No Stopping Zones" [ ] On-street permitted parking es [ ] Reallocating existing parking spaces [ ] Other

9) Do	you think carshar	ing organ	izations sho	ould comp	pensate the city for the	nese spaces?
[]	Yes	[]	No	[]	Not sure	
If yes	[ ] Ca [ ] Ca [ ] De organizati [ ] Oth	rsharing or rsharing or rsharing or pends on on has to	organizatior organizatior organizatior	ns should ns should of space i ria	pay but at a reduced pay the cost of the period pay the cost of lost residues given or if the cars	earking permit. meter revenue.
10) A non-p	mong carsharing p	of questi	ons will ask		of business models, opinion based on bu	-
whos activ com	profit: A legally con se objective is to sup ities of public or pri nercial or monetary into the organizatio	port or en ivate intere profit. Pro	gage in est without ofits are put		ofit: A business or orga goal is to make a mor	
stree	o you think there sho t parking spaces bet iders?		-		sharing [ ] N	es o ot sure
	o you think there sho bensation between for		-	•	haring public parking g providers?	space
[ ] non-j [ ] [ ]	profit organizations? Unsure	2		-	paces be different for f	-
,	erted to reserved o No one in particu	carsharing ular overnmen who repre unity asso y or busir	y parking? ( t/streets or esent the ar ciation or b ness owner	Please ch traffic de ea usiness a		

12) Demographic Information	(the person	administering	the survey	can observe	this
information)					

Sex:	M	[ ]	Age:	18-25 [ ]	Ethnicity:	American Indian/Alaska Na	tive
	F	[ ]		26-35 [ ]		African American	[ ]
				36-45 [ ]		Asian	[ ]
				46-55 [ ]		Hawaiian / Pacific Islande	r[ ]
				56-65 [ ]		Latino / Hispanic	[ ]
				>65 [ ]		Caucasian	[ ]
		Decli	ne to Ai	nswer: [ ]		Decline to Answer:	[ ]

13) Do you have any further comments on carsharing parking?

# **ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

Abbreviation	Term	Definition/Explanation
ACCS	Arlington County Commuter Services	Promotes and facilitates the use of transportation modes other than single-occupancy vehicles in Arlington, VA.
BART	Bay Area Rapid Transit District	A heavy-rail public transit system that serves the San Francisco Bay Area.
CAN	CooperativeAutoNetwork	Co-operative Auto Network is the carsharing co-op that has been serving Metro Vancouver since 1997.
CO2	Carbon Dioxide	A greenhouse gas (GHG) that is a part of vehicle emissions.
CTA	Chicago Transit Authority	Operates the nation's second largest public transportation system and covers the City of Chicago and 40 surrounding suburbs.
DDOT	District of Columbia Department of Transportation	Manages and maintains transportation infrastructure in the District of Columbia to ensure that people, goods, and information move efficiently and safely, with minimal adverse impacts on residents and the environment.
DOT	Department of Transportation	
MARTA	Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority	Provides bus and rail service in the Atlanta, Georgia area.
PABC	Parking Authority of Baltimore City	
RFP	Request for Proposal	When a government issues a new contract it sends out RFPs to agencies that it believes may be qualified to participate. An RFP lists project specifications and application procedures.
SFMTA	San Francisco Municipal Transportation Authority	Manages the San Francisco bus, street car, cable car, and light rail service.
STAR	Short-Term Auto Rental	Carsharing demonstration project in San Francisco from 1983 to 1985
TriMet	Tri-Metropolitan Transportation District	Serves the Portland, Oregon Metro Area that includes most of Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington counties
WMATA	Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority	Metrorail and Metrobus transit services in Washington, D.C., Maryland, and Virginia communities.
VMT	Vehicle Miles Traveled	Calculated by multiplying Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) by length of roadway section in miles.

Acronyms and Abbreviations	

68

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Anders, M. and D. Brucker. 2007. Metro-North Railroad Lets You Take The Controls With Help From Enterprise Rent-A-Car. *Metro-North Railroad Press Release*. <a href="http://www.mta.info/mta/news/releases/?en=071126-MNR42">http://www.mta.info/mta/news/releases/?en=071126-MNR42</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Arlington County Commuter Services (ACCS). 2005 Arlington Pilot Carshare Program: First-Year Report. 2005. Arlington, VA. 2006. Arlington Carshare Program: 2006 Report. 2006. Arlington, VA.
- Arlington County Environmental and Transportation Services. 2008. Expert interview communications. Arlington, VA.
- Austin City Council. 2006. Minutes of Council Action on Consent Items, Consent Agenda 69. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from <a href="http://www.ci.autstin.tx.us/consent/consent/">http://www.ci.autstin.tx.us/consent
- AutoShare. 2008. About Us In the News/PR. www.autoshare.com/aboutus\_news.html (accessed July 23, 2008). Toronto, ON. 2008. Expert interview communications. Toronto, ON.
- Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District. 2008. Expert interview communications. San Francisco Bay Area, CA. 2009. Parking Programs. <a href="http://www.bart.gov/guide/parking/index.aspx">http://www.bart.gov/guide/parking/index.aspx</a> (accessed February 24, 2009). San Francisco Bay Area, CA.
- Bellingham Public Works. 2008. Expert interview communications. Bellingham, WA.
- Boulder CarShare. 2008. Expert interview communications. Boulder, CO.
- Brook, David. 2005. Carsharing-Start Up Issues and New Operational Models. Washington D.C.: TRB Preprint, National Research Council. 2006. Portland Considers Changes to On Street Parking Policy for Carsharing. <a href="http://carsharingus.blogspot.com/2006/05/portland-considers-changes-to-on.html">http://carsharingus.blogspot.com/2006/05/portland-considers-changes-to-on.html</a> (accessed February 24, 2009). 2008. Portland Considers Changes to On Street Parking Policy for Carsharing. <a href="http://carsharingus.blogspot.com/2006/05/portland-considers-changes-to-on.html">http://carsharingus.blogspot.com/2006/05/portland-considers-changes-to-on.html</a> (accessed October 2, 2008). 2008. Personal communication.
- Calgary Alternative Transportation Cooperative. 2005. Carsharing. <a href="http://www.catco-op.org/carsharing.html">http://www.catco-op.org/carsharing.html</a> (accessed July 31, 2005).

- Canadian Statistics. 2003. Selected Dwelling Characteristics and Household (Household electronics and vehicles). 2005. Average Household Expenditures by Provinces and Territories. <a href="http://www40.statcan.ca/l01/cst01/famil16a.htm">http://www40.statcan.ca/l01/cst01/famil16a.htm</a> (accessed July 31, 2005).
- Cervero, R., A. Golub, and B. Nee. 2007. City CarShare: Longer-Term Travel Demand and Car Ownership Impacts. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 1992: 70-80.
- Cervero, R., and Y. Tsai. 2004. City CarShare in San Francisco, California: Second-Year Travel Demand and Car Ownership Impacts. *Transportation Research Record:*Journal of the Transportation Research Board 1887: 117-127.
- Cervero, R., N. Creedman, M. Pohan, M. Pai, and Y. Tsai. 2002. City CarShare: Assessment of Intermediate-Term Travel-Behavior Impacts. Working Paper 2002-02. Institute of Urban and Regional Development, University of California, Berkeley.
- Chicago Transit Authority (CTA). 2004. Press Release: CTA Teams with Center for Neighborhood Technology to Provide Link Between Transit and Car Sharing. <a href="http://www.transitchicago.com/news/default.aspx?Archive=y&ArticleId=1061">http://www.transitchicago.com/news/default.aspx?Archive=y&ArticleId=1061</a> (accessed February 24, 2009). 2008. CTA Expands Car Sharing Program from Five to 20 Sites. <a href="http://www.transitchicago.com/news/default.aspx?Archive=y&ArticleId=109">http://www.transitchicago.com/news/default.aspx?Archive=y&ArticleId=109</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- City of Berkeley Public Works Department. 2008. Expert interview communications. Berkeley, CA.
- City of Cambridge. 2008. Expert interview communications. MA.
- City CarShare. 2003. City CarShare Opens at Ashby BART Station. <a href="http://www.theautochannel.com/news/2003/10/17/170920.html">http://www.theautochannel.com/news/2003/10/17/170920.html</a> (accessed October 2, 2008). 2004. First-Ever Study of Car-Sharing Shows Dramatic Environmental and Traffic Benefits. <a href="http://www.citycarshare.org/pressrelease\_01-12-04.do">http://www.citycarshare.org/pressrelease\_01-12-04.do</a> (accessed February 24, 2009). 2008. Expert interview communications. San Francisco, CA.
- City of Los Angeles. 2008. CarShare Pilot Program Council File: 05-2017. <a href="http://cityclerk.lacity.org/lacityclerkconnect/index.cfm?fa=ccfi.viewrecord&cfnumber=05-2017&CFID=7998772&CFTOKEN=e77dbb5ea66d8db6-C4358554-B21A-4985B76BCACFFEB961&jsessionid=f03063ecd2b4ff7bcc4a2c3b1910273416d5</a>
- City of Seattle Legislative Information Service. 2008. Council Bill Number 116300, Ordinance Number: 122779 September 11. <a href="http://clerk.ci.seattle.wa.us/~scripts/nphrs.exe?d=CBOR&s1=116300.cbn.&Sect6=HITOFF&l=20&p=1&u=/~public/cbor2.htm&r=1&f=G">http://clerk.ci.seattle.wa.us/~scripts/nphrs.exe?d=CBOR&s1=116300.cbn.&Sect6=HITOFF&l=20&p=1&u=/~public/cbor2.htm&r=1&f=G</a>

- City of Seattle. 2008. Expert interview communications. Seattle, WA.
- City of Philadelphia. 2006. Bill Number 060761 (Parking Regulations and Penalties). October 19.
- Colliers. 2008. International Annual Parking Rate Survey
- Communauto. 2007. CO2 Emissions Reduced by 168,000 Tons Per Year Thanks to Car-Sharing. <a href="http://www.Communauto.com/premiereetude.html">http://www.Communauto.com/premiereetude.html</a>. (accessed October 2, 2008). 2008. Expert interview communications. Montreal, QC.
- Cooper, G., D. Howes, and P. Mye. 2000. The Missing Link: An Evaluation of CarSharing Portland Inc. Portland: Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.
- CooperativeAutoNetwork (CAN). 2008. Expert interview communications. Vancouver, BC
- District of Columbia Department of Transportation (DDOT). 2008. Expert interview communications. Washington, DC. 2007. Curbside Carsharing Evaluation. <a href="http://ddot.dc.gov/ddot/frames.asp?doc=/ddot/lib/ddot/information/carsharing/carshare\_evaluation\_2008-16-01.pdf">http://ddot.dc.gov/ddot/frames.asp?doc=/ddot/lib/ddot/information/carsharing/carshare\_evaluation\_2008-16-01.pdf</a> (accessed October 2, 2008).
- Jensen, Nicole. 2001. The Co-operative Auto Network Social and Environmental Report 2000-2001. <a href="http://www.cooperativeauto.net/pdf/report.pdf">http://www.cooperativeauto.net/pdf/report.pdf</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Katzev, Richard. 1999. Carsharing Portland: Review and Analysis of Its First Year. Portland, OR: Department of Environmental Quality. <a href="http://www.publicpolicyresearch.net/documents/CSP\_first\_year\_eval.PDF">http://www.publicpolicyresearch.net/documents/CSP\_first\_year\_eval.PDF</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Lane, Clayton. 2004. PhillyCarShare Members Give Up Hundreds of Cars. Philadelphia, PA: PhillyCarShare. 2005. PhillyCarShare: First-Year Social and Mobility Impacts of Carsharing in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board1927*: 158–166.
- Litman, T. Evaluating Carsharing Benefits. 2000. *Transportation Research Record1702*: 31-35.
- Metropolitan Atlanta Transit Authority (MARTA). 2006. MARTA's partnership with Flexcar offers customers an additional incentive. <a href="http://www.itsmarta.com/newsroom/">http://www.itsmarta.com/newsroom/</a> press releases/rel.asp?id=174 (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Millard-Ball, A., G. Murray, and J. ter Schure. 2006. Car-Sharing as a Parking Demand Management Strategy. Washington D.C.: TRB Preprint, National Research Council.

- Millard-Ball, A., G. Murray, J. Ter Schure, C. Fox, and J. Burkhardt. 2005. TCRP Report 108: Car-Sharing: Where and How It Succeeds. Washington D.C.: Transportation Research Board of the National Academies.
- New Economy Development Group. 2006. The Co-operative Auto Network: A transportation solution for people and the planet. <a href="http://www.agr.gc.ca/rcs-src/coop/index e.php?s1=pub&page=case auto">http://www.agr.gc.ca/rcs-src/coop/index e.php?s1=pub&page=case auto</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- New Jersey Transit. 2008. NJ Transit puts Customers in the Driver's Seat with Zipcar Now Available at 5 Locations. <a href="http://www.njtransit.com/tm/tm\_servlet.srv?hdnPag\_eAction=PressReleaseTo&PRESS\_RELEASE\_ID=2414">http://www.njtransit.com/tm/tm\_servlet.srv?hdnPag\_eAction=PressReleaseTo&PRESS\_RELEASE\_ID=2414</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Offices of Councilmembers Bill Rosendahl, Eric Garcetti, Bernard Parks, and Jack Weiss. 2009. City Council, Zipcar Partner on Car Share Program. Los Angeles, CA.
- Parking Authority of Baltimore. 2008. Expert interview communications. Baltimore, ML.
- PhillyCarShare. 2007. History: June 2007. <a href="http://www.phillycarshare.org/28/vision/">http://www.phillycarshare.org/28/vision/</a> <a href="http://www.phillycarshare.org/28/vision/">history.php</a> (accessed October 2, 2008). 2008. Expert Interview Communication. Philadelphia, PA.
- Philadelphia Parking Authority. 2008. Expert interview communications. Philadelphia, PA.
- Portland Department of Transportation (DOT). 2006. Evaluation of the City of Portland's Carsharing Pilot Program: June 2004-July 2005. 2008. Expert interview communications. Portland, OR.
- Price, J., and C. Hamilton. 2005. Arlington Pilot Carshare Program. First-Year Report. Arlington, VA: ACCS, Division of Transportation, Department of Environmental Services.
- Price, J., P. DeMaio, and C. Hamilton. 2006. Arlington Carshare Program 2006 Report. Arlington, VA: ACCS, Division of Transportation, Department of Environmental Services.
- Reynolds, E. and K. McLaughlin. 2001. The Smart Alternative to Owning a Car Brochure, 2001. AutoShare.
- Rydén, C. and E., Morin. 2005. Mobility Services for Urban Sustainability. Environmental Assessment. Report WP 6. Trivector Traffic AB. <a href="http://213.170.188.3/moses/">http://213.170.188.3/moses/</a>
  <a href="Downloads/reports/del\_6.pdf">Downloads/reports/del\_6.pdf</a>. (accessed October 2, 2008) 2006. Mobility Services for Urban Sustainability. Environmental Assessment Report WP 6. Stockholm, Sweden.

- San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA). 2008. Expert interview communications. San Francisco, CA.
- San Francisco, City of. City and County of San Francisco Municipal Planning Code:
  Section 166. Approved October 29, 2009. <a href="http://library2.municode.com:80/4201/htme.htm?view=home&doc\_action=setdoc&doc\_keytype=tocid&doc\_key=130721">http://library2.municode.com:80/4201/htme.htm?view=home&doc\_action=setdoc&doc\_keytype=tocid&doc\_key=130721</a>
  a3dbda0bc84775e69c1db52aca
- Shaheen, S., and A. Cohen. 2007. Worldwide Carsharing Growth: An International Comparison. *Transportation Research Record (TRR)* 1992: 81-89.
- Shaheen, S., A. Cohen, and M. Chung. 2009. North American Carsharing: A Ten-Year Retrospective. Transportation Research Record, forthcoming.
- Shaheen, S. and T. Lipman. 2007. Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Fuel Consumption: Sustainable Approaches for Surface Transportation, *Journal of International Association of Traffic and Safety Sciences (IATSS) Research*. Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 6-20.
- Shaheen, S., A. Cohen, and J. Roberts. 2006. Carsharing in North America: Market Growth, Current Developments, and Future Potential. *Transportation Research Record* 1841: 116-124.
- Shaheen, S., A. Schwartz, and K. Wipyewski. 2004. Policy Considerations for Carsharing and Station Cars: Monitoring Growth, Trends, and Overall Impacts. *Transportation Research Record1887*: 128-136.
- Shaheen, S., M. Meyn, and K. Wipyewski. 2003. U.S. Shared-Use Vehicle Findings on Carsharing and Station Car Growth. *Transportation Research Record1841*: 90-98.
- Town of Brookline. 2005. Selectmen Meeting Minutes June 2005. <a href="http://www.brooklinema.gov/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_view&gid=1452&tmpl=component&format=raw&Itemid=294">http://www.brooklinema.gov/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_view&gid=1452&tmpl=component&format=raw&Itemid=294</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- TriMet. 2008. Expert interview communications. Portland, OR.
- U.S. Department of Labor. Consumer Expenditures in 2002 (Report 974). 2004. <a href="http://www.bls.gov/cex/csxann02.pdf">http://www.bls.gov/cex/csxann02.pdf</a> (accessed July 31, 2005).
- U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics. 2003. *National Household Travel Survey, BTS03-05*. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Transportation Statistics.
- Walb, C., and W. Loudon. 1986. Evaluation of the Short-Term Auto Rental Service in San Francisco, California. Cambridge, MA: Prepared for the Urban Mass Transportation Administration, Research and Special Programs Administration.

- Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA). Expert interview communication. Washington DC.
- Wisniewski, Mary. 2008. CTA and I-Go to Launch Joint Smart Card. *Chicago Sun-Times*, October 10. <a href="http://www.igocars.org/pdf/Chicago-Sun-Times-2008.10.12.pdf">http://www.igocars.org/pdf/Chicago-Sun-Times-2008.10.12.pdf</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).
- Zipcar. 2006. Customer Survey Shows Car-Sharing Leads to Car Shedding. 2006.

  www.Zipcar.com/press/releases/press-21 (accessed July 23, 2008)

  2008. City of Philadelphia Selects Zipcar to Provide Car-Sharing Services. https://doi.org/10.1006/journal.2008.
- ——. 2008. City of Philadelphia Selects Zipcar to Provide Car-Sharing Services. <a href="http://www.zipcar.com/press/press-one?item\_id=101915083">http://www.zipcar.com/press/press-one?item\_id=101915083</a> (accessed February 24, 2009)
- ——. 2008. Zipcar Launches in Philadelphia. <a href="http://www.Zipcar.com/press/press-one?item\_id=87947312">http://www.Zipcar.com/press/press-one?item\_id=87947312</a> (accessed October 2, 2008)
- ——. 2009. MARTA Stations. <a href="http://www.Zipcar.com/marta/stations">http://www.Zipcar.com/marta/stations</a> (accessed February 24, 2009).

## **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

## SUSAN SHAHEEN, PH.D.

Dr. Susan Shaheen holds a joint research faculty appointment at California Partners for Advanced Transit and Highways (PATH), headquartered at the University of California—Berkeley, and at the University of California—Davis's Institute of Transportation Studies. In August 2003, Susan became the Policy & Behavioral Research Program Leader at California PATH. In November 2000, she was honored as the first Honda Distinguished Scholar in Transportation at UC Davis. Susan has a Ph.D. in ecology, focusing on technology management and the energy and environmental aspects of transportation. She has 16 years of professional experience in transportation and environmental policy, has authored 25 journal articles and over 40 reports and publications, and is co-editor of a book. She has served on the ITS World Congress program committee since 2002 and is the chair of the New Public Transportation Systems and Technology Committee of the Transportation Research Board.

## **CAROLINE RODIER, PH.D.**

Dr. Caroline Rodier's research interests include transportation policy and planning, the behavior effects of new technology applications in transportation, elderly travel behavior, and land-use and travel-demand modeling. She is currently a research engineer at California Partners for Advanced Transit and Highways (PATH), headquartered at the University of California–Berkeley. Some of her current projects include a behavioral evaluation of a transit-based smart parking field test; a statewide public opinion survey on automated speed enforcement; a feasibility analysis of a virtual compliance station for commercial vehicles; social marketing interventions to enhance older traveler mobility; and analyses of modeling uncertainty in the context of environmental impact and air quality conformity processes. She has authored 16 journal articles, 29 proceedings articles, and 22 research reports.

## **GAIL MURRAY**

Gail Murray is a Research Associate at The Mineta Transportation Institute at San Jose State University and President of Gail Murray Consulting, specializing in transportation policy, management, planning and operations. She is an associate with Nelson\Nygaard Consulting Associates in San Francisco, where recent projects have included transit and human services transportation coordination plans and a synthesis on university transportation for the Transportation Research Board in Washington, D.C.

She was the Project Leader for a MTI study titled Conduct of Background Research for the Establishment of an International Surface Transportation Policy Conference in California "Global Cooperation Through Transportation: Joining Forces Across Boarder" and is a team member of a current MTI study titled "Carsharing and Public Parking Policies: Assessing Benefits, Costs, and Best Practices."

Ms. Murray is a member of the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) District Board of Directors, elected in 2004 and re-elected in 2008. She served as President of the Board in 2008 and represents District 1 in central Contra Costa County. She is a former elected member of the Walnut Creek City Council, serving as Mayor twice during her 10-year tenure. She was also a member of the city's Planning and Transportation Commissions. Ms. Murray is a former Chair of the Central Contra Costa Transit Authority and currently serves as an ex officio member of the Contra Costa Transportation Authority. She is also a former Chair of the State of California's Departmental Transportation Advisory Committee.

Ms. Murray holds a Master in Public Administration from Harvard University's John F. Kennedy School of Government. She recently completed a term as a Director of the Harvard Alumni Association. Ms. Murray earned her Bachelor of Arts in English and journalism and her secondary credential from San Jose State University.

Past professional positions she has held include Acting Assistant General Manager of the Service Development and Marketing Department at AC Transit District in Oakland and Acting Director of Transportation for the University of California at Berkeley. While at UCB, Ms. Murray created the Berkeley TRiP Commute Store, which promoted alternatives to driving alone. Earlier she was the General Manager of Bay Area Transportation Corporation, a non-profit paratransit company serving people with disabilities, the elderly, and Head Start preschoolers.

## **ELLIOT MARTIN, PH.D.**

Elliot Martin is a Post-Doctoral Research Engineer at the Transportation Sustainability Research Center (TSRC) within the Institute of Transportation Studies at UC Berkeley. He holds a PhD in Civil and Environmental Engineering from UC Berkeley, completed in August of 2009. During his time as a graduate student, Elliot has contributed to a variety of projects at TSRC and the Innovative Mobility Research (IMR) group, which he joined in 2005. He has co-authored a variety publications in peer-reviewed journals and conference proceedings. In 2006, he completed a dual Masters in Transportation Engineering and City and Regional Planning also at UC Berkeley. Prior to graduate school, Elliot worked as an Assistant Economist at the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond. He graduated from Johns Hopkins University in 2001 with a degree in Economics and Computer Science.

## ADAM P. COHEN

Adam Cohen is a Research Associate with Innovative Mobility Research (IMR) and the Transportation Sustainability Research Center (TSRC) at the Institute of Transportation Studies at UC Berkeley. Adam joined the group in 2004, and has focused his research on worldwide carsharing. He has co-authored numerous carsharing publications in peer-reviewed journals and conference proceedings. In 2008, he completed a dual Masters in city & regional planning and international affairs from the Georgia Institute of Technology. Adam graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a dual Bachelors degree in urban studies and legal studies.

## Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

## MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

## Honorary Co-Chair Hon. James Oberstar \*\*

Chair

House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee House of Representatives Washington, DC

#### **Honorary Co-Chair**

Hon. John L. Mica \*\*

Ranking Member

House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee

House of Representatives Washington, DC

#### David L.Turney \*

Chair/President/CEO
Digital Recorders, Inc.

Dallas, TX

#### William W. Millar ^

Vice Chair/President American Public Transportation Association (APTA) Washington, DC

## Hon. Rod Diridon, Sr. #

**Executive Director** 

Mineta Transportation Institute

San Jose, CA

## Ronald Barnes

General Manager Veolia Transportation/East

Valley RPTA

Mesa, AZ

#### Rebecca Brewster

President/COO American Transportation Research Institute Smyrna, GA

#### Donald H. Camph

President

California Institute for Technology Exchange Los Angeles, CA

#### Anne P. Canby

President

Surface Transportation Policy Project

Washington, DC

#### lane Chmielinski

President DMJM Harris

New York, NY

#### William Dorey

President/CEO

Granite Construction, Inc.

Watsonville, CA

## **Mortimer Downey**

Chairman PB Consult Inc.

Washington, DC

## Nuria Fernandez

Commissioner City of Chicago, Department of Aviation,

Chicago, IL

#### Steve Heminger

Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation

Commission Oakland, CA

#### Hon. John Horsley #

Executive Director American Association of State Highway & Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

#### Joseph Boardman

Washington, DC

President/CEO

Amtrak

60 Massachusetts Ave., N.E. Washington, DC 20002

## Will Kempton

Director

California Department of Transportation Sacramento, CA

#### **Brian Macleod**

Senior Vice President Gillig Corporation

Hayward, CA

## Dr. Bruce Magid

Dean

College of Business San José State University

San José, CA

## Stephanie Pinson

President/COO

Gilbert Tweed Associates, Inc.

New York, NY

#### **Hans Rat**

Secretary General Union Internationale des Transports Publics Bruxelles, Belgium

#### Vickie Shaffer

General Manager Tri-State Transit Authority

Huntington, WV

## Paul Toliver #

President

New Age Industries Seattle, WA

## Michael S.Townes #

President/CEO

Transportation District
Commission of Hampton Roads

Hampton, VA

#### **Edward Wytkind**

President

Transportation Trades
Department, AFL-CIO

Washington, DC

\* Honorary

- Chair
- ^ Vice Chair
- # Past Chair

# Directors

#### Hon. Rod Diridon, Sr.

**Executive Director** 

## Karen E. Philbrick, Ph.D.

Research Director

#### Peter Haas, Ph.D.

Education Director

#### **Donna Maurillo**

Communications Director

## **Brian Michael Jenkins**

National Transportation Security Center

## Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D.

National Transportation Finance Center

# **Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee**

## Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D.

Urban and Regional Planning San José State University

## Jan Botha, Ph.D.

Civil & Environmental Engineering San José State University

## Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D.

Enviromental Science San José State University

## Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D.

Marketing and Decision Science San José State University

## Frances Edwards, Ph.D.

Political Science San José State University

## Taeho Park, Ph.D.

Organization and Management San José State University

## Diana Wu

Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University





Funded by U.S. Department of Transportation and California Department of Transportation